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Chairman’s Statement

TRER®/ES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We"), | have the
pleasure to present to you this annual report (the “Annual
Report”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“Reporting
Period” or the "Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Uncertainties abound as we enter the third year of the global
pandemic. In Hong Kong, local daily life largely resumed in 2021
but the “5th Wave” of 2019 coronavirus pandemic (“COVID-19
Pandemic”) since early 2022 is dealing on the community the
most severe blow by far, yet in this long and gruelling campaign,
at a time when COVID “fatigue” had worn thin the community’s
stamina. In Mainland China, the pandemic has led to renewed,
albeit mainly brief and localised, lockdown measures, once again
disrupting consumption and supply chains.

Mainland China had a roller coaster year in 2021. The strong
economic rebound from the exceptionally low base in the first
half has subsequently dissipated, and challenges, both short term
and structural, warrant attention. Dynamics in the residential
Development Properties market have also shifted noticeably in the
same direction as commercial. Demand has weakened while
supply is abundant. The more aggressive developers with high
gearing find themselves under immense funding pressure, which
in turn feeds back to weaken demand psychology in a vicious
circle.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$110.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$103.8 million). The net loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$27.3 million (2021: HK$36.7
million), representing a decrease in loss of approximately HK$9.4
million or 25.8%.
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The decrease in loss for the Reporting Period was due to the fair
value gain on one of the equity investments that are included in
the equity investments designated at fair value through profit or
loss due to the significant increase in share price of that
investment. However, this fair value gain was totally offset by the
increase in fair value loss of investment properties and provision
for net realizable value of properties held for sale in Mainland
China.

Loss per share for the Reporting Period was HK2.42 cents.

The consolidated net assets value of the Group as at 31 March
2022 was approximately HK$1,672 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,586 million). The consolidated net assets value per share as
at 31 March 2022 was HK$1.14, based on 1,466,820,600 shares
in issue, as compared to HK$1.62 per share based on
977,880,400 shares in issue as at 31 March 2021.

The Group’s financial performance primarily arose from the sale
of properties, rental income from investment properties, sale of
medical equipment, sale of home security and automation
products and income from hotel operations.

OUTLOOK

The real estate industry is an important part of China’s economy
and has a significant impact on production, investment and
consumption. At the same time, the real estate industry is also
closely related to people’s lives, related to their well-being, life
and happiness. Since the 19th National Congress of the Chinese
Communist Party, the central government has been adhering to
the principle of “properties are for accommodation, not for
speculation”, in which real estate shall not be used as a tool and
means to stimulate the economy in the short term. All regions
and departments continued to stabilize land prices, housing prices
and expectations in accordance with the central government’s
requirements, accelerated the establishment and improvement of
a long-term real estate mechanism, actively prevented and
addressed potential real estate risks, promoted the stable and
healthy development of the real estate market, and facilitated
economic transformation and high-quality development.
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

In the first quarter of 2022, due to uncertainties in the real
estate market constantly engendered by the COVID-19 pandemic,
the enthusiasm of property developers to acquire land was
dampened amid the cooling land market. Moreover, more
stringent real estate financial supervision and the implementation
of the “three red lines” regulations posed financial pressure on
property developers, while the land market was affected to a
certain extent. These risks, which may have particular impact on
particular segments of the real estate market in particular
geographical locations, may or may not have an overall material
impact on the Group’s business operations and financial condition
given that the Group's principal focus at Kaifeng and Haikou, the
People’s Republic of China. The Group will continue to implement
prudent operational and financial policies in seeking to address
the impact of these uncertainties. It is expected that the overall
development of the real estate market in China will remain stable
in 2022, which serves as a good opportunity for the diversified
development of the real estate market. In 2022, real estate
investment is expected to develop steadily and healthily.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the directors of the Company (”Directors”), | would
like to express my heartfelt thanks for the long-term support and
trust of the Company’s shareholders, business partners and
customers. | would also like to express my sincere appreciation to
all of my colleagues for their dedication and commitment to
make valuable contributions to the Group during the Year. In the
coming year, the Group will carry on dedicating its efforts and
with our combined efforts, we are looking forward to overcoming
all those challenges and hence deliver sustainable returns to the
Company’s shareholders.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
30 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group’s major business segments during the year ended 31
March 2022 comprise:

(@)  the property development and investment business segment
where the Group is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding of
investment properties;

(b)  the trading business segment where the Group is engaged
in the trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products, including the provision of related
installation; and

(c) the "others”
of a hotel.

segment comprises, principally, the operation

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$109,995,000 (2021: HK$103,799,000),
representing a slight increase of approximately 6% as compared
to last year.

Property development and investment business

In Mainland China, outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic (the
“"COVID-19 Pandemic”) during the Reporting Period was
relatively well under control with strict preventive measures and
consorted efforts taken by the central government. The central
government had provided accommodative monetary policy and
necessary fiscal stimulus to ensure economic recovery. Despite the
US-China trade conflict continued and the world-wide pandemic
in 2021, trades and business activities in Mainland China picked
up encouraging pace and recorded year-on-year GDP growth as
compared to the previous year. However, during the Reporting
Period, the property market experienced downturn under
government’s continued deleveraging efforts and as a result many
property developers experienced serious credit and liquidity
crunch.

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$31,359,000 (2021: HK$45,300,000), representing a significant
decrease of approximately 31% as compared with last year. The
revenue generated from this segment arise from the sales of
properties in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
rental income earned from investment properties located in the
PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENW®RE DN
(i) Sales of properties

Revenue decreased significantly from approximately
HK$24,454,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 to
approximately HK$7,166,000 for the year ended 31 March
2022, representing a significant decrease of approximately
71%. Compared with the previous year, fewer pre-sold
properties were completed and delivered to buyers during
the Year.

In the Reporting Period, the sales were mainly contributed
by the sales of certain remaining residential units at World
Expo Plaza in Kaifeng, the PRC (“World Expo”) and few
carparks at Haikou, the PRC.

During the Reporting Period, the Central Government
upheld its directive that “housing is for dwelling, not for
speculation”. Individual cities also continued to implement
differentiated policies in accordance with local conditions
along with other controlling measures so as to ensure
steady housing prices. Nevertheless, the “Three Thresholds”
and the regulation of the financial leverage prompted some
mainland property developers to “deleverage”.
Consequently, market confidence was affected and the
upsurge in transaction volume was subdued.

The process of seeking potential buyers for the remaining
properties was delayed due to the general slowdown in the
property market in the PRC and the domestic property
market was basically frozen due to the impact of the
COVID-19 Pandemic. During the Reporting Period, the
Group had deferred the pre-sale arrangement for the
residential area of Section G of Century Place, Kaifeng, the
PRC. The pre-sale commenced since May 2021, and the
related sales revenue is expected to be recognised during
the year ending 31 March 2023, subject to the progress of
the construction and completion of sales.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For other remaining units in Haikou and Kaifeng, the PRC,
the Group has been actively seeking potential buyers, in
particular, the commercial project located in Haikou City,
Hainan Province, the PRC. After taking into consideration of
the rise and development of Hainan Province, the Group
has planned to apply to the relevant local government
authority for the optimisation and redevelopment of the
project located in Haikou City in order to generate a
greater economic return to the Group. The outcome of the
discussion regarding such plan has not been reached as of
the date of this report. In the event that any agreement or
contract with any third party is reached, the Group will
comply with the relevant requirements of The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

(ii) Rental income from investment properties
Rental income from investment properties increased from
approximately HK$20,846,000 for the year ended 31 March
2021 to approximately HK$24,193,000 for the Reporting
Period, representing an increase of approximately 16%. The
increase is because under the COVID-19 Pandemic, a major
tenant at Kaifeng, the PRC which engaged in retail business
has failed to pay one month rent in last reporting period.
The rental payment of this tenant resumed to be normal
during the Reporting Period. Besides, as all of the rental
income was earned from the properties located at the PRC,
the strengthened average exchange rate of Renminbi
(“RMB”) from RMB1=HK$1.15 in last reporting period to
RMB1=HK$1.21 in this reporting period has caused the
increase of rental income included in the Group’s revenue.

Segment loss generated from this segment during the Reporting
Period amounted to approximately HK$118,976,000 (2021: profit
of HK$13,375,000). This is mainly due to (i) the provision for net
realisable value of property held for sales of approximately
HK$41,866,000 was noted for the Reporting Period (2021:
reversal of provision HK$2,300,000); and (i) the significant
increase in fair value loss on investment properties (before
deferred tax) to approximately HK$73,253,000 (2021: gain of
HK$24,950,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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The provision recognised for the properties held for sales and fair
value loss recognised for investment properties were mainly
attributable to the properties located at Kaifeng, the PRC, in
respect of: (i) a significant drop was noted for the unit price for
unsold villas at Zone C and Zone F of Century Place, Kaifeng, the
PRC due to the worsen economy as a results of the COVID-19
Pandemic; and (i) the COVID-19 Pandemic has adversely affected
the performance of retail business and tourism in China, which
led to a significant drop in fair value of the investment properties
of the Group that are used as shopping mall.

Trading business

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$69,584,000 (2021: HK$49,104,000), representing a significant
increase of approximately 42% as compared with last year.

The revenue generated from this segment arises from the trading
of medical equipment, wellness and pandemic prevention
products and home security and automation products, including
the provision of the related installation and maintenance services.

(i) Trading of medical equipment, wellness and

pandemic prevention products

Revenue increased from approximately HK$34,599,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$57,498,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing a significant increase of approximately 66%.
The increase was because of the significant sales of air
purifiers during the Reporting Period. The spread of
COVID-19 Pandemic also caused the increase in awareness
and demand for medical products. Our customers include
Correctional Services Department, Kowloon West Cluster
(Hospital Authority) and universities.

(ii) Trading of home security and automation

products

Turnover decreased from approximately HK$14,505,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$12,086,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022,
representing a decrease of approximately 17%. The
decrease was because of the drop in demand for security
products during the COVID-19 Pandemic where some
potential projects at the PRC have been deferred due to the
lockdown policy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Segment operating profit generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$2,939,000
(2021: HK$988,000). The increase was because the sales of air
purifier have improved tremendously due to the COVID-19
Pandemic.

Other business, principally operation of a hotel

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2022
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$9,052,000 (2021: HK$9,395,000), representing a slight
decrease of 4% as compared with last year. The revenue
generated from this segment arises mainly from the operation of
a hotel. The Group has operated one hotel, namely Holiday Inn
Express Kaifeng City Center (“Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng”)
during the Reporting Period. Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng is
located in the city centre of Kaifeng, with a total gross floor area
of approximately 14,000 sq.m. It consists of 243 guest rooms,
including 100 king bed standard rooms, 106 single bed standard
rooms, 18 king bed superior rooms, 18 single bed superior
rooms and 1 suite. There are also 3 meeting rooms with a total
gross floor area of approximately 460 sqg.m.

During the Reporting Period, the overall performance of the
Group's hotel in the Mainland China were affected by the
intermittent pandemic. The PRC Government imposed lockdowns
in some provinces with strict social distancing measures during
the COVID-19 Pandemic. While room rates remained depressed,
occupancy levels in Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng have started to
rebuild throughout the rest of 2021 with demand being led by
the recovery of the domestic retail segment.

Segment operating loss generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$24,598,000
(2021: HK$5,339,000), which represents a significant increase by
approximately 361% as compared to last year. This is mainly due
to the recognition of deficit from revaluation of property, plant
and equipment, being the hotel premises at Kaifeng, the PRC
(before deferred tax) to approximately HK$19,413,000 (2021: nil).
The COVID-19 Pandemic has caused a significant drop in the
number of tourists during the Reporting Period. The worsened
tourism business directly and adversely affected the fair value of
the hotel premises, contributing to the deficit from revaluation of
property, plant and equipment.
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The net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2022 amounted to approximately
HK$27,274,000 as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021 of
approximately HK$36,738,000. The decrease in loss was due to
the fair value gain of approximately HK$120,344,000 on one of
the equity investments that are included in the equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss due to the significant increase
in share price of that investment.

The above increase in gain is totally offset by the following:

(i)  the disruption caused by COVID-19 Pandemic on the Group's
properties revaluation during the Reporting Period, which is
likely to result in an aggregate fair value loss of
approximately HK$73,253,000 on the Group’s investment
properties in the PRC and an aggregate fair value loss of
approximately HK$10,105,000 of the Group's investments in
properties investment projects in Mainland China and Hong
Kong which are included in equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss;

(i) the provision approximately HK$41,866,000 on the Group's
properties held for sale due to the disruption caused by
COVID-19 Pandemic; and

(iii)  the impairment of accounts receivable approximately
HK$8,915,000, which was mainly due to higher estimation
of expected credit losses as a result of slower payment
pattern of customers under adverse impact of COVID-19
Pandemic and lockdown measure.

Loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2022 was

approximately HK2.42 cents.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s revenue
amounted to approximately HK$110 million, increased by
approximately 6% as compared with last year. Such increase was
mainly because COVID-19 has boosted the demands for air
purifiers which cause a significant increase in sales for the trading
segment. The increment was partly offset by the drop of sales of
property in Kaifeng, the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue generated from property development and investment
business, trading business and other business amounted to
approximately HK$31 million, HK$70 million and HK$9 million,
respectively, representing a decrease of approximately 31%, an
increase of approximately 42% and a decrease of approximately
4%, respectively, as compared with the corresponding period of
last year.

Gross profit margin

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s gross profit
margin was approximately 46.8%, increased by approximately 2.0
percentage points as compared with last year’'s 44.8%. This was
mainly driven by the fact that the proportion of rental income
among turnover of the property development and investment
segment is larger in this Reporting Period than last year,
increasing from 46% to 77% in that segment. The gross profit
margin of rental income was much higher than the sales of
properties because only minimal incurred for the
property rental business, with the gross profit margin of over
90%. As a result, the overall gross profit margin was higher in
this Reporting Period.

cost was

Other operating income/(expenses), net

The amount changes from approximately expenses of HK$11.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
income of HK$39.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.
Prior year’s amount mainly represented the aggregate fair value
loss on the equity investments at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$5.9 million and in impairment of other
receivables approximately HK$4.8 million. This year's income
mainly represented the aggregate fair value gain on the equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$110.2 million which offset by deficit from revaluation of
property, plant and equipment amounted to approximately
HK$19.4 million and provision for net realisable value of
completed properties held for sale amounted to approximately
HK$41.9 million.

Share of profits and losses of associates, net

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s share of profits
and losses of associates amounted to approximately HK$20.8
million, as compared with the share of profits and losses of
associates amounted to approximately HK$2.0 million during the
last reporting period which represents a significant increase of
approximately 919%.
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The Group has co-invested with an independent third party in the
Starway Parkview South Station Hotel project (”Project
Parkview"), which is located in Xuhui West Bund area, adjacent
to Shanghai Botanical Garden. The Group has 30% equity
interest in Project Parkview which is accounted for as an
associate. The hotel was built in 2003 with a total gross floor
area of approximately 7,319 sq.m. and 56 rooms. The hotel has
been converted into 66-room serviced apartments with plenty of
shared common area combined with mixed retail, catering, leisure
and modern gym and it was renamed as “Cohost West Bund”,
a co-living serviced apartment in Shanghai. During the Reporting
Period, the Cohost West Bund was sold to a third party at
RMB197 million which cause the significant increase in Group’s
share of profits from this investment.

Liquidity, financial resources and gearing ratio

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources and also other borrowings. The Group adopted a
prudent cash and financial management policy.

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$2,469,835,000, which were financed by total
liabilities, shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$797,731,000, approximately HK$1,677,710,000
and approximately HK$5,606,000 (debit balance), respectively. The
Group’s current ratio as at 31 March 2022 was 2.18 as
compared with 2.24 as at 31 March 2021.

Gearing ratio is calculated by the total interest-bearing debts less
cash and cash equivalents divided by the total equity as at the
end of the respective reporting periods and multiplied by 100%.
The Group had a net gearing ratio of approximately 25% as at
31 March 2022 (2021: 29%). We analysed the maturity profiles
of our borrowings and manage our liquidity level to ensure a
sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness and meet cash
requirements arising from our business. We will explore various
financing opportunities to improve our capital structure and
reduce our cost of capital.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Events after the reporting period

On 25 May 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for placing of unlisted corporate bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000. The interest rate
is 10% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. The net
proceeds from the bond placing will be used by the Company for
general working capital of the Group. As at the date of this
report, bonds of an aggregate principal amount of
HK$13,000,000 were subscribed for by one placee.

Capital expenditure
Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$11,142,000.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2022,
contracted, but not
HK$4,583,000.

the Group had capital commitments
provided for, of approximately

Charges on group assets
Details of the charged assets of the Group are set out in note 25
of the financial statements.

Treasury policies

The Group had adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 March
2022. The Group strives to reduce its exposures to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Exchange risk exposure

The Group is mainly exposed to balances denominated in RMB
which mainly arise from certain entities’ foreign currency-
denominated monetary assets and liabilities for the Group's
operating activities.

ﬁqiﬁiﬁnﬂﬁl ﬂf

WMEMEBEEH

RZTE-—_FRA-+HH  AABIFIZE
Eid - USSR 2 4 %820,000,0008 T2
FLEMRAES  FRNEEI10%  BREZE
ZRIT - ARABFERAREESF B R
HIFHEEAEE L, —REEES - RARS
HEl A& 48%813,000,0008 T2 1E5 2 &
— 2B AR o

BEABX
BE-_E-_—_F=-A=+—HBIFEZEXK
F ST 4B 49 511,142,0008 7T °

HAREE
R-E-_—F=-—A=+—H AEBEIES
A REE -

AiE
R-E-_—F=A=+—H A&EFBACH]
4918 R A & A EHE 494,583,000 7T ©

SEEE KR
REEEE 2 TR FBHN P B RRMEE25 -

ERBER

AEBCHEEHSBREREENTBEEIE
Fé o mEBEE—_ZE-_—_F#=A=+—01t
FEEFAHBFREENORDE MR - K&
EHNBBETHED Zf?E R EE
FRVBEMKAUREEERR -AEERD
s RE - i%ggﬁ%%$%gmﬁ@ﬁ
SIRAUBRAEENEE - BE RH M
EORBESEBIENETHNESS K-

SMEE B B

AEBTEmMHEARBEZERER -
REgsnRR  TERARNKENEZEZAH
RETERBMIMNEGHENEREERRAE -

MERREBEEAFRAT —T-_FFH

15



16

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENW®R DN

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy to eliminate the currency exposures against changes in
exchange rates of RMB against Hong Kong Dollar. However,
management monitors the related foreign currency exposures
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposures should the need arise.

PROSPECTS

Property development and investment

We anticipate the global economy to be volatile and challenging
in the coming year. Factors such as the continuous threat of
COVID-19 Pandemic and its variants, increase in interest rates by
major economies such as US to curb inflation, disruption in
supply chain, and geopolitical tension in various regions will
affect economic recovery. It is very difficult to predict when the
global economy can resume its normal pace. However, it is
anticipated that many countries may adopt flexible and
accommodative monetary policies and fiscal stimulus to provide
liquidity to counter economic downturn, and interest rate increase
may still be moderate.

In Mainland China, it is expected that the economy will be stable
with growth as the pandemic has been under control. The central
government will continue to provide accommodative monetary
policy and fiscal stimulus necessary to support economic growth.
The effort of the central government to deleverage and its
measures to facilitate healthy growth of the property market may
have short-term effect to slow down the property market, but it
is expected that the property market will remain resilient in the
long run.

CENUTURY PLACE, KAIFENG

On 9 June 2005, the Group was granted the land use rights of a
development site with in Long Ting District of the city of Kaifeng,
Henan Province, the PRC, which has been developed into a
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor
area of approximately 210,500 sg.m., known as “Century Place,
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this report, the construction of a
gross floor area of approximately 190,000 sq.m. has been
completed and a total sales contract sum of approximately
RMB767 million has been achieved. The remaining part of the
land (Section G) is under construction, and it is expected that the
construction will be completed by the last quarter of 2022 and
the pre-sale has already started in the second quarter of 2021.
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The unsold area at the Century Place, Kaifeng consists of the
following:

CURRENT USE
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(approximately sg.m.)
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Section A Investment properties — Shops (leased out) 53,600 sg.m.

Al rEWE —mE(2h#) 53,600 75 K

Section B Properties held for sales — Apartments 200 sg.m.

Bl@ FENE — 2F 200°F 75 oK

Car park 78

BE5 78

Section C Properties held for sales — Villas 6,000 sqg.m.

= FEMWE — HE 6,000 75 K

Section D Properties held for sales — Offices 1,200 sqg.m.

D& FEME — PRE 1,200°F 752K

Car park 10

BE5 10

Section E Properties held for sales — Shops 350 sg.m.

El& FEWE — B 350F 75K

Section F Properties held for sales — Shops 11,100 sqg.m.

Fl@ TFEWE — B 11,100 77 K

Car park 89

BE5 89

Section G Properties held for sales under development 20,500 sg.m.
— Apartments and shops

Gl& BRIPEENE — ABNEH 20,500 75 oK

The Group plans to sell Section C together with Section G. It is
because these two sections are adjacent to each other and it is
believed that the synergy effect can bring a higher return to the
Group. Up to the date of this report, the discussions regarding
any potential sales remained preliminary and no formal proposal
has been put forward by any third party to the Group and no
legally binding agreement or contract relating to such business
cooperation has been entered into by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries. The outcome of any discussion on such business
cooperation is not known as of the date of this report and in the
event that any agreement or contract regarding the possible
business cooperation with the aforementioned third party is
reached, the Company will comply with the relevant requirements
of the Listing Rules.
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Up to the date of this report, the total contract sum from the
pre-sale of Section G properties amounted to approximately
RMB22 million (equivalent to approximately HK$27 million).
However as the ownership of the properties have not yet been
ready to be passed to the buyers, no revenue from sales has
been recognised for Zone G during the Reporting Period.

WORLD EXPO, KAIFENG

On 16 February 2012, the Group successfully won a bid for the
acquisition of land use right of a residential and commercial site
in the city of Kaifeng, the PRC, which has been developed into a
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor
area of approximately 95,000 sq.m., known as “World Expo,
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this report, this project has been
completed and achieved a total sales of gross floor area of
approximately 67,846 sq.m. with contract sum of approximately
RMB564 million.

The unsold area at the World Expo, Kaifeng consists of the
following:

CURRENT USE
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Commercial Section A Property, plant and equipment — Hotel 14,000 sqg.m.
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Residential Blocks 1-3 Properties held for sales — Apartments 7,189 sqg.m.
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Car park 147
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Trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products

The increasing standard of living around the globe, especially in
Hong Kong and major cities in the PRC, and increasing health
awareness, in particular from high-income consumers living in
urban areas, together create additional demand for medical
equipment. Consequently, this segment is expected to continue to
be a worthwhile investment. In the coming reporting period, we
will expand our distribution channels and introduce a broader
range of products to boost sales growth.
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In addition, with the improving standard of living and technology
in Hong Kong, major cities in the PRC and Southeast Asia, the
Group aims to provide a series of solutions to smart city
development for shopping malls, government facilities, border and
airport, etc.

The Group has set up a new subsidiary for the trading of
wellness and pandemic prevention products. Due to the
COVID-19 Pandemic, the Group will increase the range of
products to fulfill the demand of the society.

During the Reporting Period, the Group is the sole distributor in
Hong Kong for a medical-grade air purifier, Perfect Particulates
Purification (“PPP”). PPP air purifiers are developed by a team of
Hong Kong air quality experts and medical professionals. The PPP
air purifiers include different models for various applications.

The model PPP-1200-01 AD, is specialized for hospital and clinic
usage. Its multi-air inlet and air outlet, with very high airflow and
clean air deliver rate, provides flexibility for the user to adjust the
orientation of air inflow/outflow, to accommodate the actual
working scenario. The performance of the air purifiers has been
certified by U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA") and
“AHAM" (United States). The filtration technologies of the air
purifier is proven to kill virus and bacteria (including COVID-19)
effectively. The Group provides the equipment installation at
various hospital sites, staff training on both the technologies
principles and operating on the air purifiers, as well as technical
supports on different application scenarios. The Group’s major
customers base includes hospitals, universities, prison, elderly
centers.

The Group will continue to adopt efficacious cost management
strategies and maintain tight credit control measures to cope with
challenges and to improve competitiveness within the volatile
operating environment. The Directors will continue to make every
effort to maximise the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.
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Hotel operation

The Group has signed an agreement with 7<NBEE I (L)
BPBRAA] (@ member of IHG Hotels & Resort) to operate the hotel
under the name of “Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng City Center”.
Holiday Inn Express is one of the world-famous selected service
hotel brands. Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng was opened in January
2020.

The Group is taking all practicable measures to cope with the
challenges from the COVID-19 Pandemic. The first priority is to
deliver a feeling of safety to our guests. Therefore, we are
putting in place strict sanitisation and hygiene protocol to ensure
guests returning to stay or dine in the hotel will have complete
peace of mind and full assurance in the hotel’s products and
services. Moreover, we are introducing marketing and sales
recovery strategies to target the domestic market for staycation
and food menu for takeaway, and at the same time, taking
decisive decision to reduce operating costs. The Group will
continue to improve the quality of its hotel services to ensure the
hotel guests having enjoyable experiences during their stays in the
hotel.

Objectives for the remaining of 2022 are as follows: (1) we will
continue to improve our investment portfolio through the
acquisition of quality properties in Hong Kong at attractive price
and disposals of more mature properties in order to balance the
demands of short-term returns and long-term capital appreciation;
(2) we will review our management system and cost structure so
as to improve efficiency and reduce expenses where possible; (3)
we will consider gearing up our projects in a responsible manner
in order to increase our return on equity; and (4) we will further
develop the business of trading of medical equipment and more
variety of security products, as well as further explore new
trading business.

The Board will strive for new breakthroughs in terms of industry
and geographic coverage by improving the corporate governance
mechanism and on the condition of compliance of the Listing
Rules, increasing the risk control level, enhancing asset
management capability, further forging a professional and high-
quality talent team to seize the development opportunity and
actively develop new customers. The Group will also pay attention
to maintain the relationship with existing customers and explore
deeper cooperation with quality customers in order to achieve
steady and long-term development of the Group.
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Investment company for the property investment
and/or redevelopment in Hong Kong

The Group has entered into a subscription agreement with Excel
Castle International Limited ("Excel Castle”) which the Group
owns 10% equity interest in Excel Castle. As the Group does not
have significant influence over Excel Castle, the investment is
classified as an equity investment at fair value through profit or
loss.

Excel Castle is an investment holding company to hold directly a
company incorporated in Hong Kong that is engaged in the
business of investment holding, property investment and/or
redevelopment in Hong Kong and which in turn holds eight other
wholly-owned subsidiaries (together with Excel Castle, collectively
referred to as the “Excel Castle Group”).

As at 31 March 2022, the total investment made by the Group
was approximately HK$80 million.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, Excel Castle Group has
one property redevelopment project in Tsim Sha Tsui (“TST
Property”). The old commercial building has been demolished
and the redevelopment works have commenced. The TST Property
will be developed into a modern commercial building with larger
saleable area. The whole redevelopment project is expected to be
completed in 2026.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the Group's
interest in Excel Castle Group was approximately HK$39,995,000
(2021: HK$51,050,000).

This significant investment is not held for trading. The Group
considers this as a strategic investment and will review its
investment strategy regularly in response to the changes in
market situation.
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Participation in a real estate investment fund

On 23 April 2019, the Group and Gusto Brave Limited, a
representing entity of Pamfleet Group (“Pamfleet”) (which is a
member of Schroders Capital) entered into a general-partner
shareholders’ agreement in respect of Pamfleet China GP I
Limited (“Pamfleet China”) which will act as a general partner of
a fund manager for property investment.

The Group owns 30% equity interest in Pamfleet China. Pamfleet
is an independent and privately-owned real estate investment
advisor with offices in Hong Kong, Singapore and Shanghai.
Pamfleet's experienced team seeks to create long-term value
through knowledgeable deal sourcing, disciplined acquisitions,
active asset management, rebranding and refurbishment with an
emphasis on design, anticipating tenant and community
requirements and delivering good value for money. Members of
the management team of Pamfleet have been involved in the
selection and management of real estate investments throughout
Asia for over 20 years.

Pamfleet and the Group operate with a flat organisational
structure, which allows and encourages collaboration.

Up to the end of the Reporting Period, the fund managed by
Pamfleet China is Pamfleet Shanghai Real Estate Fund Il
(“PSREFII"). The Group has also acted as a limited partner (holds
1.5%) of PSREFIl. PSREFII seeks to capitalise on Pamfleet's track
record of successful investments in under-performing, under-
priced and distressed real estate assets with repositioning and
value-add potential in Shanghai and other tier-one cities in
Mainland China. The investment strategy of PSREFIl is to identify,
structure and execute successful asset repositioning investments in
Shanghai and other tier-one cities in Mainland China. Up to the
end of the Reporting Period, the total cost of investment made
by the Group was approximately HK$6.2 million.

As at 31 March 2022 the carrying amount of the Group’s
investment in PSREFII was approximately HK$3,507,000 (2021
HK$3,794,000).

Up to the end of the Reporting Period, there was only one

project operated by PSREFIl in Shanghai, namely Project Hub
(“Project Hub").
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The property is located at the junction of Daning Road and
Gonghexin Road within Daning Commercial Area of Jing An
District, Shanghai. It has 4 blocks of office building with a total
gross floor area of approximately 37,547 sq.m. During the year,
most of the properties under Project Hub were leased to third
parties for rental income.

FUNDRAISING FOR THE PAST TWELVES MONTHS

A.

Rights issue and use of proceeds

On 1 November 2021, the Company implemented the
rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of one (1)
rights Share (the “Rights Shares”) for every two (2) existing
ordinary shares of the Company of HK$0.10 each (the
“Shares” and each a “Share”) held by the qualifying
shareholders on the record date (3 December 2021, the
“Record Date”) at the subscription price (the
“Subscription Price”) of HK$0.10 per Rights Share to raise
gross proceeds up to approximately HK$49.9 million before
expenses by way of a rights issue of up to 499,390,200
Rights Shares. The Directors considered that raising funds by
way of the Rights Issue will enable the Company to
strengthen its working capital base and to enhance its
financial position, so as to meet the imminent need of
funds to settle the outstanding liabilities owing by the
Company to its creditors in respect of its short-term
borrowings and overdraft facilities, as well as to maintain
its operations. The closing price per Share on 1 November
2021 (being the date on which the terms of Rights Issue
were fixed) was HK$0.108.

On 1 November 2021 (after trading hours), the Company
entered into the underwriting agreement (the
“Underwriting Agreement”) with Koala Securities Limited
and Yellow River Securities Limited (the “Underwriters”),
pursuant to which the Underwriters have conditionally
agreed to underwrite, on a best effort basis, the
underwritten shares of up to 281,421,900 Rights Shares,
subject to the terms and conditions set out in the
Underwriting Agreement.

On 31 December 2021, the Rights Issue was completed
where 488,940,200 Rights Shares were issued for cash of
HK$0.10 per Share and net proceeds, after related
expenses, of HK$46,707,000 (“Net Proceeds”) were raised.
The net price is approximately HK$0.096 per Share.
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Details of the Rights Issue are set out in the Company's
announcements dated 1 November 2021 and 30 December
2021, and the Company’s prospectus dated 6 December
2021.

As at 31 March 2022, the Net Proceeds had been utilised
as follows:

HEFEIANARRHRAA - -—F
+—RA—BAkR-FE-_—F+=-A=+H
ZRE CURARBBRAET = —F
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R-E-—F=A=+—H " FEzHE
FEOEAMT

Actual use of

Approximate the Net Amount

Proposed percentage Proceeds up unutilised as

use of Net of Net to 31 March at 31 March

Proceeds Proceeds 2022 2022

BHZE
—_E-=
=A=+—H R==Z=Z=

FSRIEREE FENEREE ZHB8XNE =ZHA=t+—H

REMAZ #SYEaot FTHERRAE 2XBALE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TFET FET THETT
Repayment of BEAEEZ
unsecured loans by R ER

the Group 37,100 79% 28,000 9,100
General working —REEES

capital 9,607 21% 3,000 6,607

Total HEEt 46,707 100% 31,000 15,707

The unutilised net proceeds from the Rights Issue as at 31
March 2022 will be used according to the intended use as
disclosed in the Company’s prospectus dated 6 December
2021. As at the date hereof, the net proceeds have been
fully utilised.

Placing of bonds and use of proceeds

On 25 May 2022, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for placing of unlisted corporate bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of HK$20,000,000. The interest
rate is 10% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. The
net proceeds from the bond placing will be used by the
Company for general working capital of the Group. As at
the date of this report, bonds of an aggregate principal
amount of HK$13,000,000 were subscribed for by one
placee.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 173 employees, 116 of
whom were based in the PRC and the remaining employees were
based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefits expenses
including directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2022 was approximately HK$39.9 million as compared with
approximately HK$36.9 million in last year. The increase was
because the increase in sales commission due to the increase in
sales in trading segment.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
were reviewed and approved by the Directors. Apart from
pension funds, in order to attract and retain a high calibre of a
capable and motivated workforce, the Group offers discretionary
bonus and share options to staff based on individual performance
and the achievements of the Group’s targets.
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of (a) property
development and investment; (b) trading of medical equipment
and home security and automation products; and (c) operation of
a hotel.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 97 to 100.

No interim dividend was paid during the year (2021: Nil). The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Year (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide a steady return to shareholders
and at the same time to maintain a strong financial position for
investment opportunities and sustainable development in the
future. Dividends proposed or declared, or not recommended, is
subject to financial performance, cash flows and future
investment opportunities of the Group.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as shareholders
of the Company to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting (the “AGM"), the register of members of the Company
will be closed from 25 August 2022 to 30 August 2022, both
days inclusive. In order to qualify as shareholders of the Company
to attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of shares of
the Company are required to lodge all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged
before 15 August 2022) or 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (if the transfer will be lodged on or
after 15 August 2022) for registration no later than 4:30 p.m.
on 24 August 2022.

Remark: The address of the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, will be changed to 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong with effect from
15 August 2022. please refer to the Company’s

announcement to be made in due course.

For details,
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements, respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on page
47 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options
during the year, if any, are set out in notes 27 and 28 to the
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there was no equity-
linked agreement entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 101 and 102 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed in accordance
with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
amounted to approximately HK$125,198,000. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account and capital redemption
reserve, in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$255,310,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company may make distributions from its contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 is set out in the section headed ”“Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7 to 25 of this Annual
Report. These discussions form part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

This business review is made pursuant to paragraph 28(2)(d) of
Appendix 16 to the Main Board Listing Rules (the “Listing
Rules”) published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange"”), pursuant to which further analysis of
and discussion on the above principal activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”) are made. In the opinion of the Directors, the
section headed “Chairman’s statement” and “Management
discussion and analysis” provide a comprehensive review of the
performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 as
well as its future prospects.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are
considered to be of significance and have potential to affect the
Group's businesses, results of operations and financial position.
However, this list is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks
and uncertainties which may arise as a result of changes in
economic and other conditions over time. The Group employs a
risk management and internal control framework to identify
current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
organisation so as to take preventive actions to avoid or mitigate
their adverse impacts.
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Risks relating to property development and
investment business segment

The property development and investment segment is one of the
major businesses of the Group, particularly in Mainland China.
Accordingly, this segment is subject to economic, political and
legal developments in Mainland China as well as in the
economies in the surrounding region. In recent years, the
property market movements in Mainland China have been
concurrently affected by the economic trend and government
policies, including but not limited to, the adoption of category-
based regulatory measures and the bilateral regulatory measures
for the real estate market, policy changes in mortgage levels and
ownership, interest rate changes, supply and demand conditions
as well as the overall economic volatility in Mainland China. The
Group’s property development and investment business segment
is expected to continue being exposed to these risks, which may
affect the Group’s investment strategy as well as its performance.
In this respect, the Group actively assesses the overall economic,
political and legal developments as well as the property markets
in other provinces in Mainland China in deciding viable
acquisitions and selling strategies. For each potential project,
detailed feasibility studies and stress tests in regard to all aspects
will be carried out before an acquisition to minimise the risks.

Risks relating to financial conditions and results of

operation

(i)  The Group's finance costs fluctuate with changes in interest
rates. The Group’s borrowings also include amounts
denominated in RMB, in Mainland China. The People’s Bank
of China adjusts its benchmark lending rates from time to
time in response to domestic and global economic changes.
The Group may be affected by changes in the prevailing
interest rates of the global credit market. Any increase in
interest rates in connection with the currencies the Group
borrows will increase the Group’s finance costs and
customers’ mortgage interest rates and may adversely and
materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial position,
results of operations and growth prospects.
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(ii)

(iii)

The Group is required to reassess the fair value of its
investment properties at the end of every reporting period
to which financial statements are made up. Pursuant to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, investment
properties are stated at their fair value, and the changes in
their valuation should be taken to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of the financial period in which
it is incurred. Based on the valuation conducted by
independent external valuers, the Group recognises the
investment properties at fair value and the related deferred
tax in the consolidated statement of financial position, while
the changes in fair value and the related deferred tax of
investment properties are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Therefore, the assumptions
made in the valuation of investment properties would
change under changing market conditions. Notwithstanding
any variations in profit and loss, fair value gains and losses
are non-cash items and will not increase or decrease cash
and cash equivalents. The amount of revaluation adjustment
has been and will continuously be subject to changes in
market conditions. As such, there can be no assurance that
changes in market conditions will continue to generate
gains from fair value changes in investment properties at
similar level or at all, or there will be no decline in the fair
value of the Group's investment properties. If a property
market in the region where the Group operates slows
down, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
may decline.

With the majority of the properties located in Mainland
China, the general economic climate, regulatory changes,
government policies and the political conditions in Mainland
China may have a significant impact on the Group’s overall
financial results and condition. The Group’s rental income
may experience more frequent adjustments resulting from
competition arising from oversupply in retail and office
areas. Furthermore, rental levels may also be impacted by
external economic and market conditions including but not
limited to the fluctuations in general supply and demand,
performance in stock markets and financial volatility, which
may indirectly affect the Group’s property investment
performance. The spread of COVID-19 pandemic and the
resultant government measures exert economic pressure on
the tenants of the Group. The weak retail markets affect
the Group’s financial results leading to decreases in revenue
and adverse effects on profits and cash flows.
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(iv)

Properties developed by the Group for sale in Mainland China
are subject to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT"). LAT is
calculated based on proceeds received from sale of
properties less deductible expenditures as provided in the
relevant tax laws. Pending settlement with the relevant tax
authorities, the Group makes provisions for the amount of
LAT in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations from time to time. Provisions for LAT are made
on the Group’s own estimates based on, among other
things, its own apportionment of deductible expenses which
is subject to final confirmation by the relevant tax
authorities upon settlement of the LAT. The Group only
prepays a portion of such provisions each year as required
by the local tax authorities. The Group cannot assure that
the relevant tax authorities will agree with its calculation of
LAT, nor can it assure that the LAT provisions will be
sufficient to cover its LAT obligations in respect of its past
LAT liabilities in relation to its combined property business.
If the relevant tax authorities determine that its LAT exceeds
the LAT prepayments and provisions, and seek to collect
that excess amount, the Group’s cash flows, results of
operations and financial position may be materially and
adversely affected. As there are uncertainties as to when
the tax authorities will enforce the LAT collection and
whether it will apply the LAT collection retrospectively to
properties sold before the enforcement, any payment as a
result of the enforcement of LAT collection may significantly
restrict the Group’s cash flow position, its ability to finance
its land acquisitions and to execute its business plans.

(iv)
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(v The Group operates a hotel in Kaifeng, the PRC. Hotel
performance is usually subject to a high degree of
fluctuations caused by both predictable and unpredictable
factors including seasonality, economic conditions, social
stability, epidemic diseases and ease of traveling. Each
factor has varied the development pattern of the tourism
and hospitality industry. The segment has been adversely
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and respective
governmental responses. Counter measures like restriction
on cross border travels and social distancing adopted by
governments unavoidably impact our operations and
financial results leading to plunge in revenue, increases in
costs and adverse effects on profits and cash flows. In this
respect, hotel segment closely assesses the impact of
COVID-19 pandemic particularly on revenue and cash flow
as well as cost control and operational efficiency to mitigate
the adverse financial impacts. It also takes continual reviews
of competition, legal and political changes as well as
market trends for setting its business strategies including
marketing and pricing to protect and drive profitability and
cash flow.

Outbreak of COVID-19

During the Reporting Period, the COVID-19 Pandemic in the PRC
including Hong Kong and Macau has affected many businesses to
different extents. During the assessment of the impact, although
there were certain delays in the resumption of work in certain
on-going property development projects, the works for all those
projects have been resumed and there was no material delay in
the timing of completion during the Reporting Period. Therefore,
the COVID-19 Pandemic had no material impact to the Group's
operation and the Group’s liquidity positions and working capital
sufficiency maintain in a sufficient level during the Reporting
Period. Based on the currently available information, barring
unforeseen circumstances, the Directors consider the COVID-19
Pandemic would not have a prolonged material impact to the
Group's operation given that the full resumption of works for on-
going projects. However, given the unpredictability associated
with the COVID-19 Pandemic and any further contingency
measures that may be implemented by the relevant governments
and corporate entities, the impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic, if
any, on the Group’'s 2021 and 2022 operations could be
significantly different from the aforesaid expectation depending on
how the situation evolves. The Group will closely monitor in this
regard. To minimise the impact of COVID-19 Pandemic and
uncertainties, the Group will continue to reinforce cost control
and monitor its cash flow, as well as further diversify the Group’s
business scope and source of income as a whole.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS
The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working
practices and paying close attention to ensure that all resources
are efficiently utilised. The Group strives to become an
environmental-friendly corporation by saving electricity and
encouraging the recycling of office supplies and other materials.

The Group and its business activities are subject to requirements
under various laws. The laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group include, among others, Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Immigration
Ordinance (Chapter 115 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has put in place in-house rules containing measures and work
procedures to ensure that the Group’s operation is in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations.
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The Group’s major business is property development in Mainland
China, which is a heavily-regulated industry. Property developers
must abide by various-laws and regulations, including rules
stipulated by the national and local governments. To engage in
property development, the Group must apply to relevant
government authorities to obtain and renew various licences,
permits, certificates and approvals, including but not limited to,
land use rights certificates, qualification certificates for property
developers, construction work commencement permits,
construction work planning permits, construction land planning
permits and pre-sale permits. Before the government authorities
issue or renew any certificate or permit, the Group must meet
the relevant requirements. Set out below is a summary of certain
aspects of Mainland China legal and regulatory provisions relating
to our property development and investment operations and
business. These include laws and regulations relating to:

Establishment of a real estate development enterprise

o Qualification of a real estate developer
o Land for property development
o Sale of commodity properties

. Transfer of real estate

o Mortgages of real estate
J Real estate management
o Measures on stabilising property prices

o PRC taxation

o Foreign currency exchange

o Labour protection

The Group is committed to complying with the above laws and

regulations and for the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no
reported case of material non-compliance.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had a headcount of 173
employees (2021: 184). Salaries of employees are maintained at a
competitive level and are reviewed annually, with close reference
to the relevant labour market as well as the minimum wages
guideline as prescribed by the local government from time to
time.

The Group awards discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based upon profit achievements of the Group and individual
performance. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme in order to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to align the interests of the employees with the Group’s
interests. Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are
reasonably remunerated and continues to improve and regularly
review and update its policies on remuneration and benefits,
training, and occupational health and safety.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers
and has on-going communication with the customers and
suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic
mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Each Director or other officers of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has maintained
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, sales to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for approximately 34% (2021: 32%)
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 16% (2021: 14%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 62% (2021: 62%) of the total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 21% (2021: 32%).
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None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or any other shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
year.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. TJIA Boen Sien#@
(Managing Director and Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing Ning#@
Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William
Ms. TSE Hoi Ying (appointed on 1 March 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors
Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond*#@

Ir SIU Man Po*#e

Mr. SIU Kam Chau*#@

* audit committee members
# remuneration committee members
e nomination committee members

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, Ms. Tse Hoi Ying and Mr. Siu Kam
Chau will retire by rotation according to the Company’s Bye-Laws
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM to be held on Tuesday, 30 August 2022.

The Company considers that Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu
Man Po and Mr. Siu Kam Chau are independent pursuant to the
criteria set out in the Listing Rules and that it has received
annual confirmations of independence from each of them.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of Directors with reference to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. For
further details of the Directors’ emoluments, please refer to note
8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Continuing connected
transactions”, “The Rights Issue and use of proceeds” and
note 33 to the financial statements, no Director, a connected
entity of a Director nor a controlling shareholder of the Company
had a material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the
business of the Group to which any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
March 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which he would
be deemed or taken to have under Section 344 and 345 of the
SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company:

EERETETBRAERKRND - HEAR
PREZHNESERKXR

RZEBEZZF=A=+—H XRAISNE
ERFETHABRARRREMBEEZE (E
ZRABHFNPEKRN((BFRBESKRG) F
XVER) 2 fgfn « MR HN RMEFELHLAR
AIREES MBS ROIEIS2EET 2 BREHR
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BHR G HEESTRIZEME RNA G LB R
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3445 R F 345 W RIEXR EIEER v m &
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REDARDREBARDNER

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FRERDEE - SO RESEME

Percentage
of the
Directly Through Company'’s
beneficially controlled Share issued share
owned corporation options Total capital
Name of Directors EEHA (Note 3) (Note 3) (Note 1) (Note 4)
EARQH
21T
ERERBE BBRMEHEE BRE ait BREBEIH
(PR =E3) (Pff=£3) (PfF=E1) (Pt =E4)
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien SRR 129,002,400 (L) 524,902,500 (L) 829,629 654,734,529 44.64
(“Mr. Tjia") (Note 2) ([#ExE]D
(PfF5r2)
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FTRERE 39,644,100 (L) — 9,333,333 48,977,433 3.34
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William 34 254 3,600,000 (L — 8,296,296 11,896,296 0.81
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying B Rt — — 6,222,222 6,222,222 0.42
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, ERE L 727,500 (L) — 829,629 1,557,129 0.11
Raymond
Ir Siu Man Po BSOR T2RD 1,580,000 (L) — 829,629 2,409,629 0.16
Mr. Siu Kam Chau BB A — — 829,629 829,629 0.06
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Notes:

The share options were granted on 27 November 2020 with consideration of
HK$1 under the Scheme (defined below in section headed “Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the Company. The above share options could be
exercised from the date of grant to 26 November 2022 in accordance with
the rules of the Scheme to subscribe for ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in
the Company at an initial exercise price of HK$0.125 per share, which was
adjusted to an exercise price of HK$0.1205 per share pursuant to the Rights
Issue that took place on 30 December 2021. For details of the adjustment,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 December
2021.

Sparta Assets Limited (“Sparta Assets”), a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI"”) and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, is beneficially interested
in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Tjia is deemed to
be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company held by Sparta Assets
by virtue of the SFO.

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of

the Company.

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue
as at 31 March 2022.

Long positions in Sparta Assets, being an associated
corporation:
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R 18 E B Sparta AssetsiZ B IR Y &F
1

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROBE  SORERNE

Percentage

Directly Through of the Sparta

beneficially controlled Assets issued

Name of Director EEHA owned corporation Total share capital
{hSparta

HEER EBAEH Assets T 21T

%A = E &5t RABDE

Mr. Tjia* il 1,000 — 1,000 100.00

Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia,
is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 ordinary shares of the Company.

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share
option scheme” below.

* Sparta Assets(— R R EE & 2 B &5 i Kz
WEMECERERBEZAETBEBARA
524,902,500 8% & @ A% ik (5 o

SEENARPIEBEZ#m - BTN T
IRAERT B —AOEE

7
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Save as disclosed above and note 28 to the financial statements,
none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ interests and
short positions in shares and underlying shares” above and
“Share option scheme” below, and share option scheme
disclosures set out in note 28 to the financial statements, at no
time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, nor were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2022 Annual Report
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The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme

during the year:

Number of share options

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

TOIEH &I TR BN F A REITE

Price of the Company's shares**

BREZE AR RGER**
Adjusted
Lapsed  Adjustment Date of Exercise exercise price of At grant date
Names or category At 1 April during for Rights At 31 March  grant of period of share options* of options
of participants 2021 the year Issue 2022***  share options share options HK$ per share  HKS$ per share
R-ZB=ZZF KREBRE RBRE
RZB=-F RER =A TEE* R A
SHEERERER mNA-H REAY LREER =1+-B8* BRERLAS BRETEDSHH SREBRBET SRRHET
Directors:
s
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien 800,000 — 29,629 829,629 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
2020 to 26 November
2022
LS g 23 ZEZTE+-A
+—A —ttHZ
—++AH ZZZZE
+—-A=+xA8
Mr. Wang Jing 9,000,000 — 333,333 9,333,333 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
Ning 2020 to 26 November
2022
IRERE —T-FF  ZTZTH1-A
+—A —ttAzE
—++H —ZZZF
+—AZ+XAH
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, 8,000,000 — 296,296 8,296,296 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
William 2020 to 26 November
2022
HEELEE g 23 ZEZTE+-A
+—A —t+tRE
—++AH ZZZZE
+—-A=+xA8
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying 6,000,000 — 222,222 6,222,222 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
2020 to 26 November
2022
FERLT —T-TE ZZZEF+-A
+—A —ttAZE
—++H —T——i
+/\ E
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, 800,000 — 29,629 829,629 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
Raymond 2020 to 26 November
2022
MERET g 23 ZEZTE+-A
+—A —ttHZ
—t++tH —T-CF
+—-A=+xA8
Ir Siu Man Po 800,000 — 29,629 829,629 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
2020 to 26 November
2022
EPQaRE] —Z-TF ZZZEF+-A
+—A —ttAzE
—++H —ZZZF
+—AZ+XAH
Mr. Siu Kam Chau 800,000 — 29,629 829,629 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.113
2020 to 26 November
2022
BRUWEE i e 23 ZEZTE+-A
+—A —ttHZ
—t++tH —T-CF
+—A=+7H
26,200,000 - 970,367 27,170,367
HEFREREEARAR Z—T__FFH

41



42

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

Number of share options

Price of the Company’s shares**

BREHE ARFARGERE*
Adjusted
Lapsed Adjustment Date of Exercise exercise price of At grant date
Names or category At 1 April during for Rights At 31 March  grant of period of share options* of options
of participants 2021  the year Issue 2022***  share options share options HK$ per share  HK$ per share
R-B=-=f SHRBRE REBRE
R-B=-F RER =R TEE* R AH
SEELARES MA-H BRHEX SREBHR =t-A* BRERHAN BRETEHHE SRRHELT  BRRHER
Other employees, 6,250,000 (6,250,000)**** — — 27 November 27 November 2020 0.1205 0.13
in aggregate 2020 to 26 November
2021
HittEg &% —E-THE ZTZEFEF-f
+-A —t++AZE
—ttA it b2
+—AZ+H
6,250,000 - 231,484 6,481,484 27 November 27 November 2021 0.1205 0.13
2020 to 26 November
2022
—E-FF “E-—%+-4
+-A Zt++HZE
—t++tA it St
+—A=+xB
12,500,000  (6,250,000) 231,484 6,481,484
Total 38,700,000  (6,250,000) 1,201,851 33,651,851
A
=]

**

* kK

*k kK

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share
capital. The exercise price of the Share Options has been adjusted effective
from 31 December 2021 as a results of the Rights Issue.

The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of grant of the
share options is the Stock Exchange closing price on the trading day
immediately prior to the date of grant of the options. The price of the
Company'’s shares disclosed immediately before the exercise date of the
share options is the weighted average of the Stock Exchange closing price
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised over all of
the exercises of options within the disclosure line.

The number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the Share Options has
been adjusted effective from 31 December 2021 as a results of the Rights
Issue.

An aggregate of 6,250,000 Share Options lapsed during the Year as they
were not exercised before the relevant exercise period expired on 26
November 2021.

Further details of the Scheme are included in note 28 to the
financial statements.
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EEEHRE

FERRRHEMATRRG REER
DHEERAR

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’" AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2022, so far as is known to the Directors of the
Company, the following persons/entities (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short
position in shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Division 2 and
3 of part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register of

RZBE-=—F=ZA=+—H MARRES
Frsn - THAL EE(BEEHXARQAEETT
BRABBRIN RAAEIRG S BRI G + - %
BEREEFRBEKRMEXVHFE2REID
HARARNREE  HBRIEES R EIE
F3B6KE B EABALRRAETERFZELS

interests of the Company required to be kept pursuant to Section fHEIHEZRSAA
336 of the SFO:
Long positions: ¥E:
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
ordinary shares issued share
Capacity and nature of held Capital
Name interest (Note 3) (Note 4)
HAEARB BT
FEEREREAE BRAEBD L
=x SOREZMEE (P EE3) (Fff=E4)
Sparta Assets (Note 1) Beneficial owner 524,902,500 (L) 35.79
Sparta Assets (Fi&E1) E=EAA
Granda Overseas Holding Co. Ltd. Beneficial owner 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
("“Granda”) (Note 2)
Granda Overseas Holding Co. Ltd. E=EAA
([Granda]) (Fi7E2)
Mr. Chen Huofa Interests of controlled 260,548,110 (L) 17.76

corporation

BRKOE S RPEEAE R
Notes: B3 -
1. Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, 1. Sparta Assets (—EIR R B Z B S AW i

HEEREREBZRR)EREAARNRAA
524,902,500/ & 7 » B It - RIRFE H R E &
]+ 3B £ 348 B Sparta Assetsti B 2 AN A A
524,902,500 f% % 17 R 1 B 1 2= o

is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Tjia is deemed to be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company
held by Sparta Assets by virtue of the SFO.

EEBRELZHEFTMR LT ERAELEEL2ER
B ZGranda * B @ A A A 8)260,548,110 8% %
5o Bt - IRIEEHFREEED - BRACKEEHR
A Granda B 2 AN A 7)260,548,110 B 19 F
B -

2. Granda, a company incorporated in the BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen 2.
Huofa, is beneficially interested in 260,548,110 shares of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Chen Huofa is deemed to be interested in 260,548,110
shares of the Company held by Granda by virtue of the SFO.

[LIRKREBALTRARREERMDHITFE -

3. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of 3.
the Company.

HAENRER TS —FZA=+—HEBTEND
#2%01,466,820,600 B A% 17 ©

4. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue 4.
as at 31 March 2022.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, the Company has
not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be notified to the Company under Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or were recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALES OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details of the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the section
headed “The Rights Issue and Use of Proceeds” and note 27
to consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Leases of office premises in Hong Kong

On 20 April 2020, Grand On Enterprise Limited (“Grand On"), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a tenancy
agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Fitness Concept Limited,
a company wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien (“Mr. Tjia"), the
Managing Director and Chairman and a substantial shareholder of
the Company, for the leasing of a property of the Group in Hong
Kong. The Tenancy Agreement was for a term of three years
from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023, with a rental of
HK$25,500 per month payable in advance. On 1 May 2021, the
monthly rental was revised to HK$17,500. The annual rental fee
payable by Fitness Concept Limited to Grand On for the year
ended 31 March 2022 did not exceed HK$218,000.

The annual rental fee payable by Fitness Concept Limited to

Grand On for the financial year ending 31 March 2023 are not
expected to exceed HK$210,000.
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Given that Mr. Tjia is the Managing Director and Chairman of the
Company and a substantial shareholder of the Company
interested in an aggregate of approximately 44.66% equity
interest in the Company at the time entering into the Tenancy
Agreement, Fitness Concept Limited, being wholly owned by Mr.
Tjia, is a connected person of the Company within the meaning
of the Listing Rules, the transaction therefore constitutes a
connected transaction of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios of the transaction
under the Tenancy Agreement calculated with reference to the
annual rental fee payable by Fitness Concept Limited to Grand On
was less than 5% and the total considerations involved were less
than HK$3,000,000, pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules,
the transactions were exempted from the reporting, annual
review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements of the Listing Rules.

PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
The properties held for sale under development of the Group are
as follows:
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ERHEEDARRZEFTHLEEREFE
RETL A E H# RN A KA R A4144.66% Ik
BYBAERZARTETERR  BMEAZ
BRAB (HHEEZERER) BB LHRA
ZRBEBRARNRZBEANLT ALZXZHE
AR RA—IHRER S °

HRERZEBE T ZR32ZMFARER
REIENTFREZFEHRCERTEZBE
BRESHEERERS% M REREDLR
3,000,000/ 7T * RIE LRI 14A.33 1% -
IRPERRETEMRANZER FEE
%o NERBIREIEZIRE

MEFE
AEBBRFSEMENT

Attributable Expected

interest of Stage of completion Gross floor
Location the Group completion date Expected use area
b B REEEGERS TRER AR A AR EEEE
Section G 100% Construction 2022 Residential/ 20,500 sg.m.
1 Xi Da Jie stage commercial
Kaifeng City complex
Henan Province
PRC
BN A R ET 100% B RRPE R —ToF [FE/EELFA 20,500FFK
FEAH 5] EH
Gl&
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The properties held for sale of the Group are as follows: REBF

Attributable

YIEMT

interest of Gross floor
Location the Group Tenure  Current use area
b, B AEEEIGER FH BATAR EEER
Phase | to IV of 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 87,647 sq.m.
Asian Villas City Square a term of 70 years, commercial
Southern Area commencing on 13 May 1998 complex
Jinpen Industrial and expiring on 12 May 2068
Development Zone
Haikou
Hainan Province
PRC
i 100% ZEMEFH =,/ 87,647F K
BEE BH—ANANFERAT=HZ HEiHFEER
O™ ZEANFERATZHI
ERIXMAERE RE70%F
A &
DMK T E S
E—Z 8
Sections B to F 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 136,591 sg.m.
1 Xi Da lJie a term of 70 years, commercial
Kaifeng City commencing on 15 June 2005 complex
Henan Province and expiring on 15 June 2075
PRC
B 100% ZEMEFH F=E/ 136,591F 75K
A H-ZTRFAAATHHEZEZ BEHFEHER
FE ™ —EtAFANA+THEBL
PEAE15% RE705F
BZF&
Commercial Zone A, B, C 100% The properties are held for Commercial 81,007 sg.m.
and D a term of 40 years,
Core Lot No. 2012-1 commencing on 3 June 2013
Zheng Kai Avenue and expiring on 13 May 2053
Kaifeng City
Henan Province
PRC
A 100% ZLEMEFBH ¥ 81,007F 5K
FEAE BH-ZE—=FA=AZ%
ESn] —ER=FHEA+=HI"

EEFE K 2012-155 = 4
A-B-CHEDEER

BERA0F
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The investment properties of the Group are as follows: REEREMENT -

Attributable

interest of Gross floor
Location the Group Tenure Lease term  Current use area
1t 2 rEEEGES FH B B A A% EEEE
12 Haixiu Avenue 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 22,803 sg.m.
Meilan District a term of 70 years,
Haikou commencing on 15 September
Hainan Province 2006 and expiring on
PRC 14 September 2076
& 100% REMEEH =3l BmE  22803FHK
BEE M-_ZTERFAATRAE
mam “EEREAATHABL
e AET705F
BEEE125%
Section A 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 53,624 sg.m.
1 Xi Da lJie a term of 70 years,
Kaifeng City commencing on 15 June 2005
Henan Province and expiring on 15 June 2075
PRC
o 100% REMEEH = BE  53,624THK
ZIEE HB_ZZRFAATHRE
R ™ “E+RERATRBL
AARHE15% REIT0F
Al
Phase | to IV of 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 29,325 sqg.m.
Asian Villas City a term of 70 years,
Square commencing on 13 May 1998
Southern Area and expiring on 12 May 2068
Jinpen Industrial
Development Zone
Haikou
Hainan Province
PRC
 Ef 100% ZEMEFH =8 mE 29325FHK
=1E) H—ANNFRAT=HZE
/oM ZERXNFERATZBL:
RTEHER RET0F
HE
EMFIEE T ES
E—ZEMH
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
accordance with the requirements of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices for the purpose of reviewing and providing
supervision over the Group’s internal controls, risk management
and financial reporting matters, including the review of the
annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022, and adequacy
of resources and qualifications of the Company’s accounting staff.
The audit committee comprises of three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po and Mr. Siu Kam Chau. Mr. Siu Kam
Chau is the Chairman of the committee.

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been reviewed by the audit committee members who
have provided advice and comments thereon.

AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) had resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 13 January 2022. Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited (“Baker Tilly”) has been appointed as the new
auditor of the Company with effect from 14 January 2022 to fill
the casual vacancy following the resignation of EY and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of
the Company. The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2022 were audited by Baker Tilly, who will
retire at the 2022 AGM and, being eligible, will offer itself for
reappointment as external auditor of the Company.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
30 June 2022
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. TJIA Boen Sien (“Mr. Tjia"”), aged 78, is one of the
co-founders of the Group. He is the Managing Director and
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tjia is the member of
remuneration committee and the member of nomination
committee of the Board. Mr. Tjia is well respected and has
established connections in the PRC construction industry through
his extensive experience. He has over 39 years' experience in the
construction industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Tjia is
responsible for the overall corporate strategy and the daily
operations of the Group, including business development and
overall management.

He graduated from chemistry studies at the Huagiao University
(ZEBKE) in the PRC in July 1966. He was admitted as member
of The Chartered Institute of Building in November 1996 and is a
professional member of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors since October 2002. Mr. Tjia previously served as the
vice chairman and honourable member of Zhan Tian You Civil
Engineering Science and Technology Development Fund
Management Committee (XA T AT BRI ERMBERASER

%Z89)

In the past three years, Mr. Tjia was the chairman and
non-executive director of Smart City Development Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Deson Construction International
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8268), a company listed on the
GEM of Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, for a period from
16 December 2014 to 29 July 2019.

Mr. Tjia is father of Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William (Executive Director
of the Company) and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Irene (Executive Director
of the Company).

Mr. WANG lJing Ning (“Mr. Wang”), aged 66, is an executive
Director of the Company and was appointed as a director of the
Company in September 1993. Mr. Wang is a member of the
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board. He is also a director of various main
operating subsidiaries of the Group, among others, Deson
Ventures (HK) Limited, Winsome Properties Limited and Honour
Advance Limited. Mr. Wang has over 42 years’ experience in
hotel management and construction engineering in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. He is responsible for managing the
Group’s projects in Mainland China.
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Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William (“Mr. William Tjia”), aged 46, is an
executive Director of the Company since January 2015.
Mr. William Tjia joined the Group in February 2000. He is a
director of Deson Innovative Limited since July 2005, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 22 years of experience
in business management. He is responsible for intelligent building
and security systems business of the Group the Group's
development including business development and overall
management. He graduated from the City University of Hong
Kong with a Bachelor of Arts with Honours Degree in Information
Systems in 1998. He is the son of Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, the
Managing Director and Chairman of the Group and the younger
brother of Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Irene, the Executive Director of the
Company.

Ms. TSE Hoi Ying, Irene (“Ms. Tse"), aged 50, is an executive
Director of the Company since 1 March 2022. Ms. Tse joined the
Group in August 1999. She is the Director of the Group's
subsidiaries, Medical Technologies Limited and Allied Health
Elements Company Limited in September 2002 and September
2019 respectively. Ms. Tse is responsible for trading of medical
equipment, health products and related consulting business of the
Group, and has over 20 years of experience in rehabilitation and
medical equipment. She graduated from the University of British
Columbia (Canada) with a Bachelor of Arts (Psychology) in May
1995. She is the daughter of Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, the Managing
Director and Chairman of the Group and the elder sister of
Mr. William Tjia, an executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. Ho Chung-Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), $B8s, MBE, S.B. St J, JP,
aged 83, is an independent non-executive Director of the
Company and was appointed as a director of the Company in
September 1993.

Dr. Ho has 59 years' experience in the fields of civil, structural,
energy, environmental and geotechnical engineering and direct
project management of many mega size engineering projects
including 49 years in Hong Kong and 10 years in the United
Kingdom. He has direct management responsibility in the HK$3.0
billion (cost at the time) project of Electrification and
Modernisation of Kowloon-Canton Railway (now called “The East
Rail”) from the mid-70's till early 80's; and all the
government-funded infrastructure works for Shatin New Town and
Tseung Kwan O New Town from early 80’s till the end of 1993,
experience including construction of tunnels, bridges, flyovers,
roads, dockyards, wharves, jetties, hospitals, hotels, incinerators,
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high-rise  commercial/residential buildings, slopes, reclamation,
chimneys, Hong Kong Ocean Park, environmental studies and
environmental protection projects.

Dr. Ho holds a doctorate degree in civil engineering from the City
University of London, United Kingdom; Honourary Doctor of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong;
Honourary Doctor of Laws from University of Manchester, United
Kingdom; a postgraduate diploma in geotechnical engineering
from Manchester University, United Kingdom; and a bachelor
degree in civil engineering from the University of Hong Kong; and
was awarded Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Hong Kong and Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Central Lancashire, United Kingdom.

Dr. Ho was formerly a partner and senior director of Maunsell
Consultants Asia Limited from January 1976 to August 1993.
Dr. Ho was formerly Hong Kong Deputy to the 10th & 11th
terms of National People’s Congress of the PRC, member of the
1st, 2nd, 3rd & 4th terms of Legislative Council (Engineering
Functional Constituency) (1998-2012), member of the Provisional
Legislative Council (1996-1998), President of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers (1987/1988), Member of the Former Basic
Law Consultation Committee, Founding Council Chairman of the
City University of Hong Kong, Council Chairman of the former
City Polytechnic of Hong Kong, Chairman of Hong Kong
Technology Committee of the Industry & Technology
Development Council (ITDC) and member of ITDC, Chairman of
the Transport Advisory Committee, Hong Kong Affairs Adviser,
Chairman of the Infrastructure Development Services Advisory
Committee of the HKTDC, board member of the Hong Kong
Airport Authority (2008-2014), member of the Court of the City
University of Hong Kong, member of the Chinese Medicine
Consultative Committee of the School of Chinese Medicine of
Hong Kong Baptist University, member of Consultative Committee
on the New Airport and Related Projects, Professional Advisor
(Architecture, Engineering and Surveying) to the Ombudsman of
HKSAR and member of the Gas Safety Advisory Committee.
Currently, Dr. Ho is Honorary Chairman and Past Chairman of
Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant, LingAo Nuclear Plant Safety
Consultative Committee.
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EEREREBEAEZEE

Dr. Ho currently is the director of the following companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Stock
Exchange”):

An Independent Non-executive Director

GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited (stock code: 3800)
ChinLink International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997)
AP Rentals Holdings Limited (stock code: 1496)

Superland Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 368)

Dr. Ho has been the director of the following companies which
are listed on the Stock Exchange in the past three years:

an independent non-executive director of China State
Construction International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3311) for
the period from June 2005 to 3 June 2019;

the non-executive chairman of SCUD Group Limited (stock code:
1399) for the period from 27 September 2018 to 16 June 2020;
and

an independent non-executive director of Fu Shek Financial
Holdings Limited (stock code: 2263) for the period from
18 February 2020 to 1 October 2021.

Ir SIU Man-po (“Ir Siu”), is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2001. Ir Siu is a
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee of
the Board.

Ir Siu was awarded the MEDAL OF HONOUR (MH) by the Chief
Executive of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR) in July 2004 for his dedication and
meritorious services to the development of engineering profession
in Hong Kong.

Ir Siu, aged 84, obtained his Master of Science in Civil
Engineering in 1963 from Auburn University in Auburn, Alabama,
U.S.A.

Ir Siu has extensive experience in construction field including the
construction of Tsing Yi Power Station in 1966-1977, MTR
stations in 1977-1987, and Hong Kong Baptist University campus
development in 1989-1999. Ir Siu was the Managing Director of
Ho Wang Siu Mak Management Ltd. (an engineering consultancy
company) from 2008 to 2019.
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Ir Siu is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers.

Mr. SIU Kam Chau (“Mr. Siu”), aged 57, joined the Company
in March 2014 as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Siu
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and member of the Nomination
Committee of the Board. Mr. Siu graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor's degree in
Accountancy. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a Certified Public Accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong. Mr. Siu has over 32 years of working
experience in auditing, accounting, company secretarial and
corporate finance. Mr. Siu was an executive director of Power
Financial Group Limited (stock code: 397) from 29 April 2020 to
21 June 2021 and is currently an independent non-executive
director of Wang On Group Limited (stock code: 1222) both of
which are companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAM Wing Wai, Angus (“Mr. Lam”), aged 46, joined the
Group in September 2005. He is the Company Secretary and the
Financial Controller of the Group. He is responsible for
monitoring all the Group’s accounting, finance, listing compliance
and company secretarial functions. He holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Before joining the
Group, he has several years’ experience with an international
accounting firm.

In the past three years, Mr. Lam was the company secretary and
financial controller of Smart City Development Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Deson Construction International Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 8268), a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange, for the period from 8 January 2015 to 29 July
2019.
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Mr. KWOK Chun Fai (“Mr. Kwok"), aged 78, joined the Group
in February 1991. He is the project manager of the Group and is
responsible for the Group’s construction projects in Mainland
China. He has over 48 years' experience in the industry. He
graduated from Fujian Overseas Chinese University in Mainland
China in Civil Industrial and Civil Building. He obtained the
International Engineering and Professional Manager Qualification
Certificate and is a Member of Architectural Society of Chinese.

Mr. WONG Suen Ping (“Mr. Wong”), aged 37, joined the
Group in February 2006. He is the Senior Product Manager of
Deson Innovative Limited and Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited, and
appointed as the Director of SecurePlus Limited in May 2020,
which are the subsidiaries or associate company of the Group.
Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the trading business of
Security System and Smart loT equipment, and further responsible
for the business development and company operation. He has
over 16 years of experience in this industry. He graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Engineering
with Honours Degree in Electronics Engineering (Electronics and
Communication) in year 2012.

Mr. MAK Nikan (“Mr. Mak"), aged 36, joined the Group in
August 2006. He is the General Manager of Medical
Technologies Limited and appointed as the Director of the
company in April 2021. Mr. Mak also appointed as the Director
of Allied Health Elements Company Limited in February 2020 and
both of these companies are the subsidiaries of the Group. The
main responsibility of Mr. Mak is to oversee the business
development, financing, sales performance and coordination with
the manufacturers and business partners. He has over 16 years of
experience in rehabilitation and medical equipment. He has been
studied in the University of Western Australia in Physiology in
years 2004-2006.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in enhancing the
confidence of shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and
business partners and also the growth of its business. The
Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles (“Principles”) and the code provisions (“Code
Provisions”) as set out in the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices ("CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The
Company has complied with most of the Code Provisions
throughout the year ended 31 March 2022 save for the deviation
from the Code Provision A.2.1 and A.4.1, details of which are
explained below. The Company regularly reviews its corporate
governance practices in order to meet the rising expectations of
stakeholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellent corporate
governance.

Summary of deviations from the CG Code:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 requires that the roles of Chairman and
chief executive (or in the context of the Company, the Managing
Director) should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Tjia is the Chairman of the Board and is holding the office of
Managing Director of the Company. Having considered the
existing structure and composition of the Board and operations of
the Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the Board believes
that vesting the roles of both chairman and managing director in
Mr. Tjia facilitates the effective implementation and execution of
its business strategies by, and ensure a consistent leadership for,
the Group. Further, a balance of power and authority between
the Board and management can be ensured by the operation of
the Board, whose members (including the three independent
non-executive directors) are individuals of high calibre with ample
experience, such that the interests of shareholders can be
safeqguarded. The Company will continue to review the structure
and composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that a
balance of power and authority between the Board and
management is appropriately maintained for the Group.
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EXERBE

Code Provision A.4.1
Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

The independent non-executive directors are not appointed for a
specific term. However, all independent non-executive directors
are subject to the retirement by rotation once every three years in
accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Company’s corporate governance practices are comparable
with those in the CG Code.

THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
AND PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important role of its Board of
Directors (“Board”) in providing effective leadership and direction
of the Company towards its objectives and ensuring transparency
and accountability of all operations. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board
and delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership
and approves strategic policies and plans with a view to enhance
shareholders’ interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management with proper
supervision from the Board. The Board reserves for its decisions
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, corporate
governance, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
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The Board is responsible for determining the policy for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for Board meetings. All Directors have full and timely
access to all relevant information as well as the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Managing Director and the
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board after being reported on by
management. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant decisions being made or significant transactions
or commitments being entered into by the abovementioned
officers, who cannot exceed any authority given to them by
resolutions of the Board or the Company.
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TERERRSE

The Board has the full support of the Managing Director and the
management to discharge its responsibilities.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against the Board and to indemnify its
directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Composition

The board, which is currently chaired by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
comprised six members at the beginning of the year. On 1
March 2022, Ms. Tse Hoi Ying was appointed as the first female
director of the Board, resulting in a seven-member board. All of
the other six members served the Board throughout the
Reporting Period up to the date of this Report.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
members, consisting of four executive Directors, and three
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company had adopted a Board diversity policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve the diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board has in its composition a balance of skills, expertise,
qualifications, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
for independent decision making and fulfilling its business needs.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members.

The Nomination Committee will follow a range of diversified
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
made upon possible contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien (Managing Director and Chairman)
(Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wang Jing Ning (Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William

Ms. Tse Hoi Ying (appointed as executive director with effect on
1 March 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
(Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Ir Siu Man Po (Member of Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee, Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Member of Nomination Committee)

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Chairman of
the Company and the other Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 49 to 54 of this annual report. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and
efficiently. Save for

O] Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, who are
father and son;

(i) Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are father
and daughter; and

(i) Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying who are
sibling,

none of the members of the Board are related to one another or
have any financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships with each other.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board at all times
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring independent
judgement on issues of strategies direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management through their contribution at
Board Meetings.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will scrutinise the
performance of the Company in achieving corporate goals and
objectives and monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they
are able to contribute positively to the Company’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments at Board and committee meetings.

The Board values the contribution of the independent non-
executive Directors, and strives to ensure constructive relations
between them and the executive Directors. All Directors are
encouraged to contribute their views during Board meetings.
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Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures
for the appointment and succession planning of Directors.
Directors to be appointed will receive a formal letter of
appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Any Board member is entitled to recommend
suitable candidate that meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules for consideration by the Board.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. In
accordance with the Company’s Bye-Laws, every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Although the independent non-executive Directors do not have a
specific term of appointment, all Directors of the Company retire
by rotation once every three years. As such, the Board considers
that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are comparable with
those in the CG Code.

Training for Directors and Company Secretary

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal
induction to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of
the business and his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Directors regularly
updated and appraised with any new regulations and guideline,
as well as any amendments thereto issued by the Stock
Exchange, particularly the effects of such new or amended
regulations and guidelines on directors specifically. On an ongoing
basis, Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate.

The Company is aware of the requirement to regularly review and
agrees with each Director their training needs. The continuing
professional training programme of the Company for Directors
will be reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Nomination
Committee. During the year ended 31 March 2022, all Directors
have individually attended seminars and training courses
conducted by qualified professionals on accounting, taxation and
Listing Rules.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever
necessary.
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Company
Secretary of the Company has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

Board Meetings

Code Provision A.1.1 stipulates that the Company should hold at
least four regular Board meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of
Directors, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication.

Regular Board meetings were held during the year for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of
the Company.

During the year under review, nine Board meetings, one annual
general meeting and one special general meeting were held.
Details of the attendance of the Directors are as follows:

HE-_ZE-_—_F=A=+—HILHBFE -
RAR AR MECES TR I5E/EFRE
BB T -

EXEE3

STRAMEXEANVERE  ARAREEBFED
BIUAEREFESHE ANEBF K-
BREFEERERERNLEDEETHRI BTN
BEBEFEATAEBRSE o

a

ARARNFARTEREZTE SR Bk
BB RREREUNERSLBBEART
EREREEREUR

REBFEAR  ARRBITTNLAEFZEE
& TRBERRAE R RBRRERIAE
EEHEFABEOT

Directors’ Attendance

ESHERE
Annual Special
General General Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting
BRERBEF R R 45 5Bl
RE N E5g
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HERR kL 1/1 1/1 9/9
(Managing Director and (EFBEEFTE)
Chairman)
Mr. Wang Jing Ning ITRERSE 1/1 11 9/9
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William AR E 1/1 1/1 9/9
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying (appointed as ~ #ERLZ LT (R=F==F 01 01 1/9
executive director with effect on = H—HEZFH 7T
1 March 2022) EE)
Independent Non-Executive BIYFHTES
Directors
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond B R E L+ 1/1 1/1 8/9
Ir Siu Man Po B SOR TAZAM 171 11 8/9
Mr. Siu Kam Chau RRERIK ST & 171 171 7/9

Notices of regular Board meetings were served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting so as to ensure that
there is timely access to relevant information. All Directors can
give notice to the Chairman of the Board or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. The Board and the senior management are also
obligated to keep the Directors appraised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director
also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary in a timely manner.

Apart from the above regular Board meetings of the year, the
Board will meet on other occasions when a Board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. The Directors will receive details
of agenda items for decision in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, who is an employee of the Company, is
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings and
Board committee meetings, which record in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. At
Board meetings, all Directors have ample opportunities to express
their respective views, voice any concerns and discuss the matters
under consideration, and the results of voting at Board meetings
fairly reflects the consensus of the Board. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and the final version is open for
Directors’ inspection. Directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and queries will be responded fully. According to
current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves a
conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Such Director must abstain from voting
and will not be counted as quorum.

Directors’ commitments

Each Director has confirmed that he can give sufficient time and
attention to the Group’s affairs, and has regularly provided
information on the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
including the identity of such companies or organisations and an
indication of the time involved.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company held the annual general meeting (2021 AGM") on
30 August 2021. Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, the executive
Director, was elected as the Chairman of 2021 AGM to ensure
effective communication with shareholders of the Company at the
meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Although the roles of Chairman and Managing Director, who
performs similar role as Chief Executive Officer, are both
performed by the same individual, in view of the existing
structure and composition of the board and operations of the
Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the board believes
that this can facilitate the effective implementation and execution
of its business strategies by, and ensure a consistent leadership
for, the Group. Further, a balance of power and authority
between the board and management can be ensured by the
operation of the board, whose members (including the three
independent non-executive Directors) are individuals of high
calibre with ample experience, such that the interests of
shareholders can be safeguarded. The Company will continue to
review the structure and composition of the board from time to
time to ensure that a balance of power and authority between
the board and management are appropriately maintained for the
Group.

The Chairman provides leadership for the board, ensuring its
effectiveness in all aspects of its role including taking the primary
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established and ensuring appropriate
steps are taken to provide effective communications with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the Board
In his capacity as managing director, he provides
planning and implementation with the support of management.

as a whole.

The Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at board meetings and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the board in a timely manner. Board
meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to give all
directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured to
encourage open discussion especially between independent non-
executive Directors and executive Directors. All board members are
encouraged to update their knowledge of and familiarity with the
Group through active participation at board meetings.
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The Chairman settles the agenda for each individual board
meeting, taking into account any additional items arising from
current operating issues, as well as such other matters as may be
raised by the other directors with him, who can include them on
the agenda. The agenda and accompanying board papers are sent
in full to all Directors in a timely manner and, where possible, at
least three days before the time appointed for the meeting.

It is also the Chairman’s responsibility to control board meetings,
to lead discussions to clear conclusions, and to satisfy himself that
the secretary of the meeting has understood each conclusion
reached. The Company Secretary and Financial Controller attend
the meetings and advise, where appropriate, on corporate
governance and accounting and financial matters.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees
are kept by a duly appointed secretary of the meeting and open
for inspection by any director. Draft and final versions of minutes
of board meetings are sent to all directors for their comments
and records respectively.

The Chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-
executive Directors without the executive Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees have complied with the Code Provisions
and are available on the Stock Exchange website
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website www.deson.com
and are available to shareholders upon request. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses. These Board committees will report back
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations.
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Remuneration Committee

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, being two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, respectively, are the members of the Remuneration
Committee and Mr. Siu Kam Chau is the Chairman of the
committee. The primary objectives of the Remuneration
Committee include making recommendations on and approving
the remuneration policy and structure and remuneration packages
of the executive Directors and the executives after consultation
with the Chairman/Managing Director and access to professional
advice, at the Group’s expense, when necessary. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her
associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the
performance of the individual and the Group as well as market
practice and conditions. The Remuneration Committee normally
meets towards the end of each year to review the remuneration
policy and structure and determination of the annual
remuneration packages of the executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and senior management and other related
matters. The Group’s remuneration policy is to maintain fair and
competitive remuneration packages based on business needs and
market practice. Factors such as market rate, an individual's
qualification, experience, performance and time commitment are
taken into account during the remuneration package
determination process. The Remuneration Committee held two
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2022 and reviewed the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors, independent
non-executive Directors and senior management for the year
under review. Recommendations have been made to the Board.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the
Remuneration Committee meetings are set out below:
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FHZBEKBEFEeRLEFENOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REH R R E HE R
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) BRI EE (FE) 2/2
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien R K& 2/2
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELEE 2/2
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ERE LT 2/2
Ir Siu Man Po 7R OK T2 Rm 2/2

Nomination Committee

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, being two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, respectively, are the members of the Nomination
Committee and Ir Siu Man Po is the Chairman of the committee.
The primary objectives of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition and identifying and nominating
candidates for appointment to the Board such that it has the
relevant blend of skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural,
educational background, professional experience and diversity of
perspectives. The Nomination Committee also assesses the
independence of independent non- executive Directors and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and
reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
Candidates for appointment as Directors may be sourced
internally or externally through various channels such as using the
services of specialist executive search firms. The aim is to appoint
individuals of the highest caliber in their area of expertise and
experience. The Nomination Committee held two meeting during
the year ended 31 March 2022 and reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board for the year under review.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the Nomination
Committee meetings are set out below:

RAZBEREBHFERZCHABOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REHE RE HFEIRE

Ir Siu Man Po (Chairman) BOK T2RD (/) 2/2

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HCBER K AE 2/2

Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELE 2/2

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond f4EZRIE L 272

Mr. Siu Kam Chau MR A 212
The following policies have been adopted by the Nomination EZZEGCDHMATHEE  UIHBHEETT

Committee to assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities as
provided in its terms of reference. The policies may be amended
from time to time by the committee as provided therein.

Recommended candidates

The committee shall consider any and all candidates
recommended as nominees for Directors to it by any Director or
shareholder; provided that in the case of shareholder
recommendations, such recommendations comply with all
applicable notice requirements set forth in the Company’s Bye-
laws, the procedures for a shareholder's nomination to be
properly brought before a general meeting, and the Listing Rules.
The committee may also consider, in its sole discretion, any and
all candidates recommended as nominees for directors to it by
any source.
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Desired qualifications, qualities and skills

The committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high
integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in their
chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and
skills to effectively represent the best interests of all shareholders.
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise good
judgement, to provide the commitment to enhancing shareholder
value, practical insights and diverse perspectives. Candidates will
also be assessed in the context of the then-current composition
of the board, the operating requirements of the Company and
the long-term interests of all shareholders. In conducting this
assessment, the committee will, in connection with its assessment
and recommendation of director candidates, consider diversity
(including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and
skills) and such other factors as it deems appropriate given the
then-current and anticipated future needs of the board and the
Company, and to maintain a balance of perspectives,
qualifications, qualities and skills on the board. The committee
may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The above
diversity perspectives, taking into account the Company’s business
model and needs, are set out in a board diversity policy which
has been established by the Company to see that diversity on the
board can be achieved.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company notes that increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The Company
adopted a diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. The Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
and will recommend the appointment of new Director, when
necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.

In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’s business model, specific needs and
meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.
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On 1 March 2022, Ms. Tse Hoi Ying was appointed as the first
female Director of the Board. After the appointment of Ms. Tse
Hoi Ying as an executive Director and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprises seven Directors, including four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of professional
experience, skill and knowledge. As at the date of this annual
report, our Board consists of six male members and one female
member with two Directors of age 41 to 50 years old, one
Directors of age 51 to 60 years old and four Directors of over 60
years old. Having reviewed the Diversity Policy and the Board'’s
composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that the
requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met and the
Board is sufficiently diverse.

The Nomination Committee will review the Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness.

Independence

The committee shall ensure that at least one-third of the board
members (or such other number of the members of the board as
prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time) meet the
definition of independent non-executive director. The committee
shall annually assess each nominee for independent non-executive
director by reviewing any potential conflicts of interest that he or
she and their immediate family members (as defined in the Listing
Rules) may have, based on the criteria for independence set forth
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. A retiring independent non-
executive director who has served the board for a period of nine
consecutive years or more is eligible for nomination by the board
to stand for re-election at a general meeting provided that he or
she is still considered independent by the board.
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The following information has been set out in the Company’s
circular to shareholders for the proposed resolution to elect an
individual as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why the Board considers the individual to be
independent;

2. if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

Nominee evaluation process

The committee will consider as a candidate any director who has
indicated his or her willingness to stand for re-election and any
other person who is recommended by any shareholder. The
committee may also undertake its own search process for
candidates and may retain the services of professional firms or
other third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential
nominees. The committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates which is
consistent with those set forth in its terms of reference, the
Company’s Bye-laws, the corporate governance policy and the
policy described herein; provided that the process used for
evaluating a nominee for each election or appointment of director
shall be substantially similar and under no circumstances shall the
committee evaluate nominees recommended by a shareholder
pursuant to a process that is substantially different than that used
for other nominees for the same election or appointment of
director.
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Nomination procedures

1.

The secretary of the committee shall call a meeting of the
committee, and invite nominations of candidates from board
members, if any, for consideration by the committee prior
to its meeting. The committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the committee shall make
recommendations for the board’'s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting, the committee shall make nominations
to the board for its consideration and recommendation.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the board to stand for election at the general meeting.

In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the board to stand for election at a general meeting, a
circular will be sent to shareholders. The circular will set out
the names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), and any other information, as required
pursuant to applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the
proposed candidates.

A shareholder can serve a notice to the board of Directors
or the company secretary within the lodgement period of its
intention to propose a resolution to elect certain person as
a director in accordance with the relevant procedures
posted on the Company’s website. The particulars of the
candidates so proposed will be provided to all shareholders
for information by way of announcement and/or
supplementary circular.

A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving a notice
in writing to the board of directors or the company
secretary.

The board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.

Shareholder proposed resolutions shall take the same form
as the resolutions proposed for the candidates
recommended by the board.
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The Nomination Committee held its annual meeting in June 2022
to review the board composition and independence of
independent non-executive Directors, and considered the
suitability of those retiring directors standing for re-election at the
next annual general meeting as well as the need for a director
succession plan. The committee also reviewed the nomination
policy and the Diversity Policy and discussed the objectives set for
implementing the latter, and noted that those objectives had
been achieved. The committee concluded that the board
composition should continue unchanged.

The Nomination Committee scheduled an additional meeting in
February 2022 to report or consider recommending to the board,
among other things: (1) the change in constitution of the board
arising from the appointment of Ms. Tse Hoi Ying and (2)
whether the above change to the board in the overall context of
the structure, size and composition of the board (as well as of
the roles and functions of the directors, following the changes)
would be appropriate to the Company’s requirements or
compliant with the Diversity Policy and applicable code provision
of the CG Code.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir
Siu Man Po and Mr. Siu Kam Chau, all being independent non-
executive Directors (including one independent non-executive
Director who possesses the appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise) and Mr.
Siu Kam Chau is the Chairman of the committee. None of the
members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company’s existing external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@)  to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant, compliance officer (if any) or external auditor
before submission to the Board,;

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees,
terms of engagement and independence, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor;
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(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
financial reporting system, and risk management system,
internal control system and associated procedures; and

(d) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting staffs, their training programme, and budget.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31 March 2022 to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and discussed
matters concerning the effectiveness of internal control systems
and the re-appointment of the external auditor. Minutes of Audit
Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary of the
Company. Draft and final version of the minutes of meetings are
sent to all committee members for comments within a reasonable
time after the meeting. There are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Sufficient
resources are provided by the Company for the Audit Committee
to perform its duties.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Details of the attendance record of members of the Audit
Committee meetings are set out below:
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Members’

Attendance

Name of Members B A BB R
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) IR () 4/4
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond f4EZRIE L 4/4
Ir Siu Man Po B SR T2 AT 4/4
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Please refer to section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 53 of the Annual
Report for biographical details of the Company Secretary.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior management are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements, respectively.
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Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the RIEMZEEASTANMENENSE NS HIR
remuneration of the senior management by band for the SHAEBHEBHMEIDWT :
Reporting Period, is set out as below:
Number of
individuals
Annual Remuneration FEH AH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T % 1,500,000/ 7T 2

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT (“ESG REPORT")

The Company will issue a separate ESG Report no later than
three months after the publication date of this Annual Report in
compliance with Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy on 1 January 2019.
The Company’s dividend policy allows the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the
Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s
future growth. According to the Company’s dividend policy, in
addition to the final dividends, the Company may declare interim
dividends or special dividends from time to time.
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According to the Company’s dividend policy, the Board shall
consider the following factors before proposing and declaring
dividends:

(i) the Group’s general financial condition;
(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;
(iii)  the Group's liquidity position;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development
needs;

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(vii) the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group; and

(ix) any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Bermuda, the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company and
any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time

by the Board and there can be no assurance that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Messrs. Ernst & Young (“EY”) had resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 13 January 2022. With the
recommendation of the Audit Committee, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited (“Baker Tilly”) has been appointed as the new auditor of
the Company with effect from 14 January 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of EY and to hold office until
the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company. The Audit Committee is mandated to review and
monitor the independence of the external auditor to ensure
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process of the
financial statements in accordance with applicable standards.
Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that the
Company’s external auditor, Baker Tilly, is independent and
recommended to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s
external auditor at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group had engaged the
Group's external auditor, Baker Tilly, to provide the following

services and their respective fees charged are set out below:

Fee charged for the year ended 31 March 2022:
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The board is responsible for ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations regarding inside information, and
has appointed a disclosure group with specific designated duties
to assist it in, among other things, overseeing and co-ordinating
the disclosure of inside information. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information
are given in the policy (the “PSI Policy”) adopted by the
Company to ensure that it is able to meet relevant obligations
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.
571) (the “SFO"). The PSI Policy applies to the directors, officers
and employees of the Group. Under the PSI Policy, the Company
must disclose inside information to the public by way of an
announcement as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours described under
the SFO. Any director, officer or employee who becomes aware
of a matter, development or event that he or she considers to be,
or potentially to be, inside information shall report it promptly to
the disclosure group. Before the relevant information is fully
disclosed to the public, the disclosure group should take
reasonable precautions to ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential. Where it is believed that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the information should be disclosed
immediately to the public. If the disclosure group needs time to
clarify the details of, and the impact arising from, an event or a
set of circumstances before it is in a position to issue a full
announcement to properly inform the public, the disclosure group
should consider issuing a “holding announcement” which details
as much ascertainable information of the subject matter as
possible and sets out the reasons why a fuller announcement
cannot be made. Following a holding announcement, the
disclosure group should ensure that a full announcement is made
as soon as reasonably practicable. In the event that confidentiality
has not been maintained and it is not able to make a full
announcement or a holding announcement, the disclosure group
should consider applying for a suspension of trading in the
Company’s securities, subject to approval of the board, until
disclosure can be made. All inside information related
announcements must be properly approved by the board before
publication, and all unpublished inside information must be kept
in strict confidence until a formal announcement is made. The
disclosure group must further ensure that access to unpublished
inside information is given only to employees on a “need-to-
know" basis for discharging their duties. Apart from reporting to
the disclosure group, every director, officer or employee who
possesses or has been given access to unpublished inside
information must not disclose, discuss or share such information
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to or with any other parties within or outside the Group. The PSI
Policy also sets out the criteria for advance disclosure of inside
information to certain categories of people as may be necessary
in the circumstances. In this case, the disclosure group should
monitor the situation so that disclosure may be made as soon as
reasonably practicable if there is any leakage of information.
Directors, officers and employees must refrain from dealing in the
shares of the Company at any time when they are in possession
of unpublished inside information. Securities dealings are
governed by the securities codes applicable to directors and
relevant employees (within the meaning of the CG Code), as
described in the section below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has
been made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 March 2022. The Company has adopted the same
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code by the relevant employees was noted by the
Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A
Whistleblowing Policy is in place to create a system for the
employees and other stakeholders of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties. The identity
of each whistleblower and all information provided in connection
with a whistleblowing report will be treated with the strictest
confidence.
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Continuous Disclosure Policy

A Continuous Disclosure Policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information as defined in the SFO is identified and
confidentiality of such information is maintained until timely and
appropriate disclosure is made in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination of
inside information, which includes:

o Roles and responsibilities of the divisions/departments of the
Company in identifying and escalating any potential inside
information within the Company; and

o Procedures for determining the necessity, means and/or
extent of disclosure of such information.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary, for each financial
period with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the financial year. Management of the
Company has provided such explanation and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before the Board for
approval including monthly updates. The Group’s consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Listing
Rules, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, all relevant statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Group has selected appropriate
accounting policies and has applied them consistently based on
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates.
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The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospect in the annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Directors
acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022. The statement of the external auditor of the Group about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent auditor’s report” on pages 87 to 96.
Management of the Group is obligated to provide sufficient
explanation and information to the Board so that it can make
informed assessment of relevant matters.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL MONITORING
Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle C.2 of
the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of
such systems, while the Board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

impact of risks and

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in year ended 31
March 2022, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group;

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed;

Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out;

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls; and

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements the inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.
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o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in year ended 31
March 2022, no significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as
Certified Public Accountant). The IA function is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board's reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the
Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and (ii) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the reviews made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that
the resources, staff qualifications and experience of relevant staff
were adequate and the training programme and budget provided
were sufficient.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor relations policy and to updating investors on relevant
information/developments in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted from time to time. The
Company also replied to any enquiries from shareholders in a
timely manner. The Directors host the annual general meeting
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The corporate website of the Company at www.deson.com
provides a communication platform via which the public and
investor community can access up-to-date information regarding
the Group.

The Company’s 2021 AGM was held on 30 August 2021. The
notice of the 2021 AGM, the annual report and the circular
containing relevant information of the proposed resolutions were
sent to shareholders more than 20 clear business days before the
2021 AGM. All Board members together with the key executives
and the external auditor attended the 2021 AGM. The executive
Director explained the poll voting procedures at the 2021 AGM.
Separate resolutions for each substantially separate issue,
including the re-election of individual Directors, were proposed at
the 2021 AGM. All the resolutions at the 2021 AGM were dealt
with by poll. The poll results of the 2021 AGM are available on
the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Shareholders may also send any enquiries, suggestions or
concerns to the Board at any time through the Company
Secretary, whose contact details are as follows:

Address The Company Secretary

Deson Development International
Holdings Limited

11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza

57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong
Kowloon, Hong Kong
deson@deson.com

(852) 2570 1118

(852) 3184 3402

Email
Telephone no.
Fax no.

The Company Secretary will forward such communications to the
Board, the relevant Board committees and/or the Chief Executive
Officer, as appropriate.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice of the
annual general meeting, the annual report and the circular
containing information on the proposed resolutions will be sent to
shareholders at least 21 clear business days before the annual
general meeting. Voting at the forthcoming annual general
meeting will be by way of a poll. An explanation of the detailed
procedures of conducting a poll will be provided to shareholders
at the commencement of the annual general meeting to ensure
that shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

Poll results will be counted by Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited and will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange on the day the annual
general meeting held. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the
shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well
as chairmen of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Audit Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer questions
at the annual general meetings. The Company will also arrange
for the external auditor to attend the annual general meetings to
answer relevant questions if necessary.

Separate resolutions are proposed at annual general meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual
directors.
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In addition to regular Board meetings, the Board, on the
requisition of shareholders of the Company holding not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, may convene a
special general meeting to address specific issues of the Company
within 21 days from the date of deposit of written notice to the
Company Secretary, at the Company’s head office at 11th Floor,
Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
and must be signed by the requisitionist(s). Shareholders may also
use this same method to put forward proposals for the next
general meeting.

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholders Communication
Policy to set out the Company's procedures in providing the
shareholders and the investment community with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, in order to enable the shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow the
shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.

CONCLUSION

In the opinion of the Board, good governance was maintained
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report.
The Company shall keep its governance practices under review to
ensure that they are in step with the latest developments.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@ pakertilly
R B ] PR

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Deson Development International Holdings Limited
HERREREEERAA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 230, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2022 and of its consolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

FARETEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZERAEBSTRUOMERDN

Valuation of investment properties

REMEME

Refer to notes 3 and 14 to the audited consolidated financial statements

BRI FE A S RT3 14

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s investment
properties measured at fair value amounted to
HK$1,011,060,000 with an aggregate loss arising from
the changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of HK$73,253,000 for the
year then ended. The fair values of investment
properties were determined by the Group based on the
valuations performed by an independent professional
qualified valuer engaged by the Group.

MRZE_Z_F=ZA=+—0 BEXEEMRBEEHNKREY
XA FEFE/1,011,060,0008 7T BEEBIEFE
REEEERENERBATEZMEENAEER
73,253,00087T - EEEREVENLFERRE &
SEZEENBYURXSERMGEMETHREMET -

The Group's investment properties portfolio mainly
included completed investment properties in the
Mainland China.
EEENRENEXESTIEZERETEANMERTREY
E3D
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Our audit procedures in this area included:

BTN LB FRT 27 B4

Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
A EEEZREOMGEMORN 1 REH
i

Obtaining the valuation report of each property
and assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methods applied; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R &

FRETEE (A

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEHEAEBTPROMEHH

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

BREWMEMLE (R

Refer to notes 3 and 14 to the audited consolidated financial statements (Continued)

BRI F AT TR AN 3R 14 (&)

The valuation of investment properties was derived from
the investment method and the direct comparison
approach. For investment method, the relevant key
assumptions include estimated monthly rental value,
term yield and reversionary yield. For direct comparison
approach, the relevant key assumption is the estimated
market selling price per unit, with reference to recent
transactions of the comparable properties and adjusted
for differences in key attributes such as but not limited
to location and property size.
REMENEEDRAREEREELBIEME - HR
REZE  HARREBREFEGAAESEER  FHRS
EREFWEEX -SEERLBUEME - HEBRKRER
BEUNMFTISER  U2EAELBYENTBER
SERERBUENEZR (FIETRREE RMERIE)
TEHAHE -

All the relevant key assumptions were influenced by the
prevailing market conditions and each property’s
characteristics.

FIEMEENBREBREZENMSIRGEREBYENRE

HMETRE -

We focus on this area due to the significant quantum
of investment properties to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimate on relevant key assumptions
applied in valuation.

BAEIR BRI HRNEEMBERRTAEAEREY
¥ - BfAETEANEMERBRR S REARHEG LA

Assessing the reasonableness of relevant key
assumptions used in valuation including estimated
monthly rental value, reversionary vyield and
estimated market selling price per unit by
gathering and analysing the data of comparable
properties in the market and the characteristics of
individual investment property such as location,
age and size.

BB Ko M 45 | AT BB 3 RO B DA K2 (&
FIREMENLE - Bl R/ NFHE - FHEEE
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SEE BERRSXNGASELTHER -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRESSIE (&)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETEE ZBIRAE R WA

Net realisable value assessment on properties held for sale under development and properties held for
sale

BREPGENERGENE TR FETMGE

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the audited consolidated financial statements
R EEIZAR A EREN #3318

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's properties held for Our audit procedures in this area included:
sale under development and properties held for sale PSR LB ETIZFRIE
amounted to HK$241,009,000 and HK$543,712,000,

respectively. o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
RZEZZF=A=+—H EE£EMFEENERF objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
HTEMERFEME DI R241,009,0008 T & A BEEEZEOGEMORN O REH
543,712,000 7T © i

Properties held for sale under development and e Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost valuer on which the management’s assessment of
and net realisable value. The determination of the net the net realisable value of the properties held for
realisable value of these properties requires estimations, sale under development and properties held for
including expected future selling prices and cost sale was based;

necessary to complete the sale of these properties, and BEEREENGERPSENERGEDENT
is assessed by management with reference to the BRFEMKEBERMGEMERANEERS

valuations carried out by an independent professional
qualified valuer engaged by the Group for those e Discussing with and obtaining an understanding

properties. from management of how they would apply the
BERPFEVERGEMELZK AR IR FE 2 HH valuation in their net realisable value assessment
BEEZY FTCRSEVENTERFEZTEHETH and the rationale; and

o BRTEAZEMENEEMTNERARKREE LK BEIRE w7 MR SN B FE MR
K - WAHEEELER BESEMZEVEZENE L EAHERERE &

XA B RMEEMETOMHEREDMG -
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B % BET R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRETSEE (F)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRETEE ZBIRAEERT R W EH

Net realisable value assessment on properties held for sale under development and properties held for
sale (Continued)

BRRTESEVERGEVX TR R FETMGE ()

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the audited consolidated financial statements (Continued)
RGBT A EIREN 73218 (48)

Changes in government policies, which affect interest e Examining the data used as inputs for the
rates, the required reserve ratio for banks and/or valuation, which included making reference to the
mortgage requirements for second-home buyers, could market unit selling price of comparable properties
lead to volatility in property prices, particularly for nearby used in the valuation and performing
properties in the Mainland China. market value benchmarking against comparable
FENE - BIOITREBEER KR EEELKBE properties.

RERNBREH AT ERMEBRKEY  LHEPH ZERELERBANEE  AE2ZHETER
N EY 4 2 o MDA B BMENTHHEERE  AEAAIE

HEMENTSEETEESN -

We identified the assessment of the net realisable value
of the properties as a key audit matter because of the
significance of these properties to the Group’s total
assets and because the assessment of net realisable
value is inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement and estimation in relation to
estimating future selling prices and future construction
costs which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.

B ER SR FENT BT RBERESFE
RZEDFEYE BEEENEELEEREARN MAAE
WHEENFEEERNENTEL  TEERERMER
KIHE BB RARRERKAEL ERHE M EF - g
EINERIEEERRENRR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
B ETEE

FRETEE(H)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEREABESTERUOMERN

Valuation of unlisted equity investments

HFELMRERENGE

Refer to notes 3, 16 and 35 to the audited consolidated financial statements

BRI FE GRS FRENEZ - 16235

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s unlisted equity
investments measured at fair value through profit or
loss amounted to HK$229,790,000, which were
measured at fair value and categorised as Level 3

within the fair value hierarchy with significant
unobservable inputs.
RZTEZZF=A=+—H  BESERQAFEFTARE

HRARRIE T ARMER & &229,790,00078 7T ¢ IR A F
B 2T S BEARNFEBHP AL ERT A ERE AR
BHE=EBH -

The Group has engaged an independent professional
qualified valuer to perform the valuation of these
investments. The external valuer has applied valuation
techniques to determine the fair value of these unlisted
investments that were not quoted in active markets.
ERECREREBUEESERLEMEZSEREETH
B NEMEERMEERGER ZEEZE R ERMS
WEBZIFLTREAFE-
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Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI RN B 2T B

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
il EREZEMNMGEMEORN  EHIRTE
f

o Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
valuer on which the management’s assessment of
the unlisted equity investments was based;

HR {5 & T2 JE 5T 14 3F - 7 AR M AR & PR B e (A (B A
mEHEERS

o Verifying key inputs and information identified by
management that used in the valuation against
the underlying source information;
HREBRRERREEEEMANAREES
B RS g A BUR B Y



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R &

FEREFTSEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZERAEBFSTROMEHHN

Valuation of unlisted equity investments (Continued)

HELTRERENMGEE)

Refer to notes 3, 16 and 35 to the audited consolidated financial statements (Continued)

BREE G ERENES - 168235 (%)

These valuation techniques, in particular those including
significant unobservable inputs, involved subjective
judgements and assumptions. Changes in the key
inputs and assumptions on which the fair value of
these unlisted equity investments is based could have a
material impact on the valuation of these unlisted
investments as at the end of the reporting period and
could significantly affect the change in fair value being

Assessing the need of key valuation adjustments
by challenging management on the
appropriateness of key assumptions and
judgement employed based on available
information and facts and circumstances of these
equity investments; and

RBEREEBENZSERERENTTAER £
EREAMRANERRERABOEE L - 760

recognised for the reporting period.

ZEMERE LEZZFEREATAHRRAREN
METE PREBAGRRER - ZEFELTRERE o
N EFKENEREASRERBERNESHSHZFIE
IR ERBERRNBEEEEEATE  WHREH
MHERNATFTEEPELEALE -

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021 were audited by another independent
auditor whose report dated 29 June 2021 expressed an
unmodified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

FARAERENLEN &

Performing sensitivity analysis to evaluate the
reasonableness
appropriate.
EEENRKEETHRRED T AT HEENSE
M o

of the valuation, when

HitE1H

EEEHE T —F=-A=t—HILFE
MR A M RAE S — B RBEET - &
BERR T - —FX A ThBANHmEH I
FHEAVBRREREREER -

HibE R

EEFTYHHMLEHAER -HMERNBRTH
REEREANER  BETREFEHBR
REBANZBEDRE o

BB GAVBREANBERL NRERME
£ BT EREFEMER EREAEA
HYEERE Hm ©

AERMESEEMHRERNETMS - HHH
BEERMEELMER  HHBET  EEH
ERRE BRA M HRRIEPIEETB
RRMEENERFEEARBEREUFF
EEARERRAOENR

MERREBEEAFRAT —T-_FFH
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BB, E

OTHER INFORMATION (Continued)

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2022 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % BET R &

R E RS M B RRATAEN

=1E (&)
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B BT R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 June 2022

Tong Wai Hang
Practising certificate number P06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

— A = 2 Z
mEBE®RK
For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z-—_F=A=1+-HBIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$ 000
B 5 FHET FAET
Revenue PN 5 109,995 103,799
Cost of sales $HE AR (58,492) (57,344)
Gross profit E A 51,503 46,455
Other income and gains H U A K= 5 17,472 10,314
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment "EME L N FE
properties, net (F518) ez F%8 (73,253) 24,950
Administrative expenses TR X (75,738) (83,966)
Other operating income/(expenses), Hig g A(FAX) -
net VR RE 39,412 (11,262)
Finance costs 9758 B 7 (25,225) (20,771)
Share of profits and losses of DB A AR &
associates, net B8 - FE 20,750 2,037
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRBLAT S 1B 6 (45,079) (32,243)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfile, (Fx) 10 14,092 (6,659)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEEHE (30,987) (38,902)
Attributable to: LU BE4h -
— Owners of the Company — KRR AHA A (27,274) (36,738)
— Non-controlling interests — IR ER (3,713) (2,164)
(30,987) (38,902)
HK cents HK cents
AL il
(restated)
(&=75)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AR REERAZFEE A
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EESRER
THE COMPANY 12
— Basic — &K (2.42) (3.62)
— Diluted — s (2.42) (3.62)

The notes on pages 105 to 230 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

F105E 2308 2 K EA G A M I A2 —
B3 °
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

AEeEaRHEMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_T-_—_F=ZfA=+—HALLEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2022 2021
—EB-—fF —E-—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt E FET FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEER (30,987) (38,902)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ Hfti2E KA
Other comprehensive income that may R IAT% BB ATREE#T 5 48
be reclassified to profit or loss in FEZzHEME2ER
subsequent periods: A
Exchange differences: ME W ERE
— Exchange differences on translation — &G 9N 2 7 Fr A
of foreign operations FZEHZERE 63,664 96,041
— Share of other comprehensive — DIEEE R EIEAM
income of associates, net Z2HEIRA - FRE 325 3,842
Net other comprehensive income that A& BRI Al gEE T 0 48
may be reclassified to profit or loss EE@ EME2EEA
in subsequent periods FEE 63,989 99,883
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that RIAE BT S EH H
will not be reclassified to profit or HEBm s HMmE2mEm
loss in subsequent periods: @/ (1) -
Leasehold land and buildings: et REF
— Surplus on revaluation — BhAH% 13 5,518 5,129
— Income tax effect — ENMEE 26 (602) (465)
Net other comprehensive income that AR BEETEENH
will not be reclassified to profit or Rz Hib 2 EU
loss in subsequent periods ) F 4,916 4,664
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ AFEHM2MEEA -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BRB& 68,905 104,547
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ~ AEE2HIKRALHE
FOR THE YEAR 37,918 65,645
Attributable to: AT HEML -
— Owners of the Company — RNRQFHEAA 41,510 67,721
— Non-controlling interests — JEER S (3,592) (2,076)
37,918 65,645

F£1052 230 ZMEBREEMBHRR 2 —

#B1in -

The notes on pages 105 to 230 form part of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e AR O R

As at 31 March 2022

N—=——

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LABTTHIR)

2022 2021
—E_-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB MEE 13 306,196 315,696
Investment properties KEME 14 1,011,060 1,041,350
Investments in associates REEERNE 2" E 15 9,838 27,606
Equity investments at fair value BRATEFABREZ
through profit or loss xR & 16 229,790 125,224
Total non-current assets ERBEEHLRE 1,556,884 1,509,876
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Due from associates JE A Bgs 2 N B FRIB 15 2,399 3,220
Properties held for sale under BRPEFEMER
development and properties held RHEME
for sale 18 784,721 760,270
Inventories FE 19 6,221 11,120
Accounts receivable JiE LY BR 18 20 16,590 22,536
Prepayments, deposits and other FENHRIE - ZE Rk
receivables E {th e U 508 21 29,044 32,852
Tax recoverable A] g [B] 4 18 26,117 24,260
Pledged deposits [RELERES /N 22 4,000 2,500
Restricted cash X PR I8 & 22 — 4,033
Cash and cash equivalents RekReSEER 22 43,859 20,372
Total current assets RBEEHAE 912,951 881,163
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Accounts payable JE 1~ BR 18 23 6,706 5,824
Other payables and accruals HE M RIE R ERTE R 24 110,313 83,630
Due to associates JE A B 2 R B 8 15 2,650 3,069
Due to related companies JE 1 BE s A B3R 17 13,169 13,054
Tax payable FETHLIE 22,818 21,787
Interest-bearing bank and ETERITR
other borrowings EmEE 25 263,324 266,572
Total current liabilities REBEEAE 418,980 393,936
Net current assets REBEEFE 493,971 487,227
Total assets less current liabilities ZEERZAERAEBERE 2,050,855 1,997,103
HERRBBREBEAERAR Z—TEZ_FFW®H
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEMBRREK

As at 31 March 2022
RZZE-—F=A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2022 2021
—E-8F —E-—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M aE FET FAET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and FPERITR
other borrowings HiEE 25 197,415 218,890
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE 26 181,336 191,791
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEHRE 378,751 410,681
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,672,104 1,586,422
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners of ZAAQTFEFA
the Company iRz
Issued capital BT 27 146,682 97,788
Reserves M 29 1,531,028 1,491,613
1,677,710 1,589,401
Non-controlling interests FiERERS (5.606) (2,979)
Total equity A 1,672,104 1,586,422

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EHEFER _T-_—_FNA=ZTHHAER

30 June 2022. FREEAT -
Tjia Boen Sien Wang Jing Ning

E e FRE

Director Director

EFE EF

The notes on pages 105 to 230 form part of the consolidated 2510522308 2K 4R A M EHRER 2 —
financial statements. B o

100 Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2022 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

MERRSFHX
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BHE-Z-_—F=-A=1+—HLEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(AETTHIR)
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAEEARE
Share Property Capital ~ Exchange Share Non-
Issued ~ premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital ~ redemption ~ fluctuation option Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
nEER EREE  EXRD T
BERE  ROEER  RABR  EbREE BE ATER &% L R bl i FehEs  EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tk T Titn Tk Tn Titn Tk Tn Titn Tk Tn Tt Tk
At 1 April 2020 R-B-BEMA-H 97,788 243,040 15,262 23,061 125,543 (9,240) 14457 (86,322) — 1,097,116 1,520,705 (5,029) 1,515,676
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - (36738)  (36738) 164 (38902)
Other comprehensive income for the year 4 E 2t 2 FHA
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold lond  EfEEE L REF2BE
and buidings, net of tax RkTE - - - - 4664 - - - - - 4664 - 4664
Share of other comprehensive income  AEBELTEM2ENE
of associates - = - - = - - 3802 - - 380 - 3842
Exchange differences on translation of ~ BEENERHELL
foreign operations EiEE - - - - - - - 95,953 - - 95,953 88 96,041
Total comprehensive income/(oss) TER2ENE/ (BB
for the year #8 - - - - 4,664 - - 99,795 - (36,738) 67,721 (2,076) 65,645
Release of revaluation reserve EftfEE &R - - - - (5,189) - - - - 5,185 - - -
Equity-ettled share option amangement  H\REREBBERH - - - - - - - - 975 - 975 - 975
Contributions from non-controlling REFHRERNTE
inferests - - - - - - - - - - - 4126 4126
At31 March 2021 H-8z-%28=t-R o768 MM 1528 BOGIT 1502 QMO 44T 134T 975 106556 159400 Q979 1586422

HEFREREEARAR Z—T__FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REREEEBR

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_T-_—_F=ZfA=+—HALLEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

Attributable to owners of the Company

ANTREARG
Share Property Capital  Exchange Share Non-
Issued  premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital redemption  fluctuation option Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
NEEH E5BE  EXR® BRE

BRARK ROEEE RABH  EUERE B EEE L1 L1 % REEN g FERER  BEEE

HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

TEn Tn Ti#n TEn Tn Ti#n TEn Tn Fin TEn TEn Fin TEn

At 1 April 2021 W-B--£ME-R o788 W00 1526 B 12502 (0240 457 1341 915 1065563 1,589,401 979) 1586422

Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - @ @) 3713 (30987)

Other comprehensive income for the year AEFEM2EKE

Surplus on revaluation of leasehold land  EfERELIHREF 2B -

and buildings, net of tax RikEE - - - - 4916 - - - - - 4916 - 4916
Share of other comprehensive income of - AEBE L FL M2 ERE

associates - - - - - - - 325 - - 325 - 325
Exchange differences on translation of ~ REFHEBHELZ

foreign operations ERZE - -~ - - -~ - - 63,543 - - 63,543 i 63,664
Total comprehensive incomef(loss) FER2ENE/ (BR)#E

for the year - - - - 4916 - - 63,868 - (27,274) 41,510 (3.592) 31,918
Release of revaluation reserve EitEBEI AR - - - - (5,335) - - -~ - 5335 - - -
Equity-settled share option amangement bR iEE ERRER — — — — — — — — 92 — 92 — 92
Transfer of share option reserve upon the EREX NRERBRERE

[apse of share options - — - - — - - — (142) 1m — - -
Issue of new shares under rights issve R FETHRH (Hik21)

(note 27) 48,894 - - - - - - - - - 48,894 - 48,894
Share issue expenses BAEIRY - (2,187) - - -~ - - -~ - - (2,187) - (2,187
Contributions from non-controlling REFARERNLE

interests - - - - - - - - - - - 965 965
At 31 March 2022 R-B-Z£=f=t-8 146,682 240,853* 15,262* 23,061% 124,603 (9,240)% 14,457 77,341 925%  1,043,766* 1,677,710 (5,606) 1,672,104
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBROERGEMBRARANZGREREE

HK$1,531,028,000 (2021: HK$1,491,613,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess of the
nominal value of the subsidiaries’ shares acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’'s shares issued in exchange

thereof, pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21

1997.

May

The notes on pages 105 to 230 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A = =
GEHEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE_T-_F=ZA=+—HLFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2022 2021
—E-C —ET-—%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBHBERERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax PR A BT 18 (45,079) (32,243)
Adjustments for: BLTIIE B B %
— Finance costs — MRER 7 25,225 20,771
— Share of profits and losses of — DhEEE R AR &
associates, net E518 - ¥R (20,750) (2,037)
— Interest income — FBUA 5 (128) (168)
— Fair value loss/(gain) on investment — &Y 2 AFEE
properties, net 18, (Wzs) - %58 6 73,253 (24,950)
— Dividend income from equity — BRAFEFAEBERZZ
investments at fair value through IR R E 2 IR B WA
profit or loss 5 (1,500) (1,300)
— Loss on disposal of items of — HEWE - BE KK
property, plant and equipment #1588 &8 6 59 17
— Depreciation of property, plant and — #1% - BE K &ZEHZ
equipment e 6 13,086 13,968
— Provision/(reversal of provision) for — &Y% 7 A] #I5F
net realisable value of properties BEE (BHER
held for sale, net [) - FF 6 41,866 (2,300)
— Provision for inventories — FEEE 6 1,609 1,449
— Deficit from revaluation of property, — #1% - &= MREE
plant and equipment 4 B Al 6 19,413 —
— Impairment of accounts receivable, — FEUBRIBRIE @ JF4E
net 6 8,915 2,822
— Impairment of other receivables — Hth Y IE R A 6 496 4,849
— Fair value (gain)/loss on equity — BRAF{EH A IB %R
investments at fair value through ZIRERE 2
profit or loss, net NFE W),
E1E - R EE 6 (110,239) 5,880
— Equity-settled share option expense — IARS A 45 & 08 B 4
] 6 92 975
6,318 (12,267)
Movement in balances with related BEAREH®RE
companies 115 14,345
Increase in properties held for sale BRPFEMER
under development and properties REE YL N
held for sale (28,776) (15,101)
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,342 242
(Increase)/decrease in accounts FEUCBRTE (35 0), R
receivable (2,701) 10,073
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and JEf 5018 - 124 &
other receivables A JE YR IR R 4,431 7,529
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash PR &l fﬁiﬁd > /(1) 4,033 (4,033)
Increase/(decrease) in accounts FESHER FR I8 0, R b J‘
payable 707 (2,642)
Increase in other payables and accruals £ fif & <t 7118 % fE 51 & F
0 24,292 8,981
Cash generated from operations REEBRMBRS 11,761 7,127
Interest paid BATH B (33,168) (32,581)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid, net ERNEBNGEE - FE (87) (73)
Overseas taxes paid 28N IR (41) (1,156)
Net cash flows used in operating EE2XEFARSAKRE
activities R (21,535) (26,683)

MERREBEEAFRAT —T-_FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
REBRERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022
HE-Z-_—_F=-FA=+-HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2022 2021
—E-C T —1F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBHBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2B 128 168
Dividend received from equity BUUE A FEF AEB R
investments at fair value through ZRERERES
profit or loss 5 1,500 1,300
Purchases of equity investments at fair B EZAFE ABRE
value through profit or loss ZIRERE (8) (6,173)
Purchases of items of property, plant BA®E - BE K
and equipment HiEIER 13 (11,142) (11,653)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEDE  BER
property, plant and equipment R BIE B TSR 40 —
Proceeds from disposal of an equity  H&EHETIEAFEFTA
investment designated at fair value BHERZRERE
through profit or loss Fri5 3818 5,681 -
Repayment from/(advances to) B N REEBARIE,
associates, net LS UNCIEE NN
) FER 402 (3,189)
Investment in an associate REE AT E (361) (250)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged deposits T F3k (3E0) 8 (1,500) 1,000
Dividend income from associates REBE R FRRE WA 39,204 1,080
Net cash flows generated from/ BREEKME(FA)
(used in) investing activities REREFHE 33,944 (17,717)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REXKMERERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings BRI R HMEE 30 286,402 197,916
Repayment of bank and other BRR|TMEMBEES
borrowings 30 (315,198) (152,514)
Contributions to subsidiaries from non-  JE$% i% 4 25 17 Bt /&8 2 7
controlling interests T 965 4,126
Net proceeds from issue of new share H AR Z 1T AR5 2
upon rights issue PR 5 5RI8 58 46,707 —
Net cash flows generated from RMEXBKMERERE
financing activities HEE 18,876 49,528
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH BR&RESZSHEEBERIEM
EQUIVALENTS FE 31,285 5,128
Cash and cash equivalents at REPzRERREEE
beginning of year 1HH 8,162 2,187
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgssvE
change 723 847
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERZRERRSEE
END OF YEAR HE 40,170 8,162
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HReRBESZEEBLR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2o
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTT4E 6 22 43,859 20,372
Bank overdrafts SRITHEX 25 (3,689) (12,210)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS RiGERERERMIIZ
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED RekBEEEHEER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 40,170 8,162

The notes on pages 105 to 230 form part of the consolidated 28105%F 2308 2 MisH KRG M BRE 2 —
financial statements. 15 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1
Deson Development International Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The address of the Company’s registered office is
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of business

is located at 11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road,
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
principal activities:

(i) property development and investment;

(i) trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products; and

(iii)  operation of a hotel.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Issued ordinary/

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

AAIREEEHR
HEZREESEEERAR (XRQT])
E-ERBREFMRLZEREMER
A) o AR Az M EEE UL & Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place,
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda: MmEF=
EEMEAE B LEEIEBEBS7IRE
EEIS11E o

FAR AEBZTEXZBNT

i) DEERRKE:

(i BEEBEERBMAIERZIED
LEMR: &

(i) B —EDEE -

ERANBATINER
ARREEMBATOFEBENT

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRITEER/
28 MR MR E R HAMBRE ARROER FOAREEZEIL FEXH
Direct Indirect
HE CF:3
Advancost Assets Limited British Virgin Islands (“BVI")/ US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
HERUHE (RBRLEE])/ 1%=n Tak REER
EE
Allied Health Elements Company Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000  Ordinary — 90 Selling of wellness and
pandemic prevention
products
BFBEMEAERLDR BE 3,000,000 EiER HERRRRER
Blocks Success International Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
HRRLEE/ B %0 BEk REER
Century Logistics Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
KERLEE /B 1%=r Eak REER
Deson Commercial City Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
BEBHENERAR BE BT EBK REER
Deson Development Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$200  Ordinary 100 — Investment holding
HREEREEBRAF KERLEE /B 200%7T Edik REER
Deson Dynasty Investment (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
BERNRE (FE)ERAR BE BT EBK REER
Deson Innovative Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
HEERHBRERERAR BE BT BBk REER
MEEREREEARAT T _FFHR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1

RAREEESR (&)

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued ordinary/

FHRHEBRRANESR

Percentage of

(&)

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRTEZER/
8 SRR MR E LY HMBRA FEROEN AAREGERAIL TEER
Direct Indirect
EE B
Deson Innovative Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Ordinary — 100  Selling, distribution and
marketing of home
security and
automation products
HEEERARARAR Bk 1,000,000 7T &k HE  DEREERE
REREDIER
Deson Medical Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
EBRRES/BA 12T BBk REER
Deson (Ningbo) Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HE (ERREERLA ERELES/BE 10057 EEHK RERKR
Deson Property Development (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd.  People’s Republic of China HK$311,880,000 N/A — 100  Investment holding
(note (a)) (“PRC")/Mainland China
BEEXEE (R ERAR (MiX@) REARLNE ((HE]),/ 311,880,000/ T TiE REER
B
Deson Ventures (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HEBX(FR)ERRA 5 BT TRk REER
Deson Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HEREBRAR RBRAES/BE 12T BBK RERK
Gosford Technology Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HRRLEE/BE 1%n LRk REER
Grand On Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary — 100  Property holding
BEEXERAR ; BT TRk MEER
Honour Advance Ltd. Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
THERRA EE 28T LER REER
Medical Technologies Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100  Trading of medical
equipment
EEEAREZERERAA BE 10,0007 EBK BEBRRRE
MTL Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100 Installation and
maintenance of
medical equipment
and health care
products
HEEEERTIRARAT 5 28T LER TRREEERRESR
REEMR
New Perfect Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RBRAES/BE 12T BBK RERK
Often Reach Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HRRLEE/BE 1%r LRk REER
Peaceful Elite Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
HERLEE/BE 127 BB REER
Quick Skill Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
EBRIES/BA 1E2T BB REER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

1

REVBBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

AAREEER (&)
FHRNELRNESR (&)

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company  Principal activities
BRTEZER/
A% MR MR E LY HEMRA FEROEN AAREGERAIL TEER
Direct Indirect
BEE B
Super Sight Investments Inc. BVI/Mainland China US$1 Ordinary — 100  Property development
HRELES/HEN 1X7T EBR NEER
Synergy Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
FEDNERRA BE 100,000 i@k REER
Universal Focus Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 Ordinary — 80 Investment holding
HRELEE /B 50,0005 EEAR REER
Win Glory Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary - 100 Human resources
RIUNEXERAA 5 10,0008 7T LiER ANER
Winsome Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
REEXBRDA EF 28T EER REER
Wonderful Hope Limited BVI/Mainland China US$1  Ordinary — 100  Property development
HRRLES/HERN 1E27T BBk NERR
Woodmont Profits Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HRELEE /B 1%n Tak REER
Yan Man Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
REERHE/FA 1E27T BBk REER
THEX(BE)BRDE (hote (a) PRC/Mainland China HK$12,000,000 N/A — 100  Property holding
IHREXO8E)ARRA (M) RE/ R E R 12,000,000 7T @A MEER
BHEREEFRATF (note (a) PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 N/A — 100  Property investment
(2021:
RMB17,043,000)
BETREEXERAF (ME@) RE/RERL ARE @R NERE
40,000,0007C
(CB-—%F:
AR¥
17,043,0007C)
Note: BT
(a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. (a) BEPEEEAMRIEBERE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

ERMIEREERREHAEEARF
EEEBKIBEZENBERAEEEE
FEERRNZARBMNBAR - EE
RASMGHMBIHE QB ZFBI L - &
EAMFEBRITE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for leasehold
land and buildings classified as property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and equity investments
which have been measured at fair value. These consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HKS$") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c)  the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (i) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to
profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

REVBBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2.1

HEHREREEERAQA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’'s consolidated financial

statements.
Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, — Phase 2

HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2022 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2"

These amendments address issues not dealt with in
the previous amendments which affect financial
reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is
replaced with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR"). The
amendments provide a practical expedient to allow
the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets and
liabilities when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial
assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform
and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous
basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the
hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains or
losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to
measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The
amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities
from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk
component. The relief allows an entity, upon
designation of the hedge, to assume that the
separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an
entity to disclose additional information to enable
users of financial statements to understand the effect
of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity's
financial instruments and risk management strategy.

REVBBRRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

ENERRRBEESE (&)
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SRR

(a)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MR RERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 “Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — Phase 2" (Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate as at
31 March 2022. If the interest rates of these
borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a future period,
the Group will apply the above-mentioned practical
expedient upon the modification of these instruments
provided that the “economically equivalent” criterion
is met.

(b) Amendment to HKFRS 16 “Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021”

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct
consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by 12
months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due on or
before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions
for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendment
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period. Earlier application is permitted.

However, the Group has not received covid-19-related
rent concessions and plans to apply the practical
expedient when it becomes applicable within the
allowed period of application.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?
Amendments to Insurance Contracts?®
HKFRS 17

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?#
Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a

Single Transaction?
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract'
Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
HKFRSs 2018-2020 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16,
HKAS 417
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.
4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion.

E As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption
that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for
annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023.

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference to
the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements.
The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its
recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an
asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities
and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of
HKAS 37 or HK(FRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred
separately rather than assumed in a business combination,
an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the
acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2022. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period
if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that
are considered a settlement of a liability. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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e MR RERMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

2.3

LA TTEIR)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to
apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not
necessary. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
the amendments on the Group’s accounting policy
disclosures.

is non-

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to
measurement uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and apply to changes in accounting policies and
changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the
start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or
other component of equity as appropriate at that date. In
addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exception and
did not recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences for transactions related to
leases. Upon initial application of these amendments, the
Group will recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax
liability for deductible and taxable temporary differences
associated with right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds
from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in
profit or loss. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be
applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements
in which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract as well as contract management and supervision
costs). General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.
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2.3

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

Annual

Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out

amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

(ii)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that
an entity includes when assessing whether the terms
of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the
amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendment. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
lllustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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e R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES
Investments in associates
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring
into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate,
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in
a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount
of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and asset includes an input
and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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